

The degree of sense of community on Snapchat Live during a 24 hour live broadcast on a destination Date: 31.05.2016

Author: Ana-Maria Balescu

Supervisor: John Hird

Master's degree in Tourism

Aalborg University

Abstract

In the last few years since Snapchat was launched on social media, the mobile app has developed very fast and gathered a significant number of members. With the introduction of Snapchat Live (also known as Our Story and Snapchat Passport) the users of the app are able to share in real time for 24 hours, a video or photo snap regarding their travel experience around the world. The narrative story about a destination is compiled together and curated by representatives of Snapchat where is posted for 24 hours on Snapchat Live feature. Since Snapchat Live has broadcasted the first live story until today, tourists as well as locals, gathered together for 24 hours to share what is representative for them about a destination, creating a community during this period of time.

The current paper aims to explore and investigate the degree of sense of community that is built during this period of time. Therefore, the theoretical framework, literature review and data collection lead to a discourse analysis divided in three sections. In the first part there will be identified the understanding of the travel bloggers regarding the subjects from the theoretical framework. In the second part, there will be identified different understandings of the sense of community among the interviewees regarding the sense of community. Therefore, the last part of the discourse will focus on two factors which are influencing the degree of a strong sense of community on Snapchat Live and the outcomes on image co-creation regarding a destination. The purpose of this research is not to give solutions of how the sense of community can be improved, but to identify the factors which are influencing the degree of sense of community on Snapchat Live.

KEYWORDS: Snapchat, SL, social media, Web 2.0, sense of community, belonging factor, travel bloggers, image co-creation, tourism social media

Contents

1.INTRODUCTION			
1.1. PROBLEM FORMULATION			
2. THEORY			
2.1. SOCIAL MEDIA			
2.1.1. Tourism social media11			
2.2. SENSE OF COMMUNITY ON SOCIAL MEDIA			
2.2.1. Value co-creation in tourism industry through social media16			
2.3. SNAPCHAT			
2.3.1. Snapchat Live19			
2.3.2. Tourism destinations on Snapchat Live20			
2.4 BLOGGERS21			
2.4.1. Travel bloggers			
3. METHODOLOGY24			
3.1. Philosophy of science: an ontological and epistemological view on the social			
constructivism paradigm24			
3.2. Research methods: a social constructivist approach of a qualitative research27			
3.2.1. The optimal interview guide and purposive sampling			
3.2.2. Data analysis (discourse analysis)			
4. ANALYSIS			
PART 1: Analysis of empirical data35			
4.1.1. Defining Social media			
4.1.2. Social media on tourism destinations			
4.1.3. An unaltered image through Snapchat41			
4.1.4. Snapchat Live – 24 hours live broadcast about destinations			
4.1.5. Image value and co-creation on a destination47			
PART 2: Snapchat Live and the degree of a strong sense of community48			
4.2.1. Belongingness and the sense of community48			

4.2	2.2 Romanticizing over a Snapchat Live destination	51	
4.2	2.3 The degree of a strong sense of community through Snapchat Live	54	
4.2	2.4 Travel bloggers contribution to a destination	57	
4.3 DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS			
4.3	8.1 The degree of sense of community on Snapchat Live factor	59	
4.3	3.2 Image co-creation on a destination factor	61	
4.3	3.3 Evaluation of the research trustworthiness	62	
CONCLUSION64			
Bibliography66			

List of appendix

Appendix 1: Snapchat Interview: cailinoneil Appendix 2: Snapchat Interview: dishourtown Appendix 3: Snapchat Interview: penny764 Appendix 4: Snapchat Interview: thebrokebackpacker Appendix 5: Snapchat Interview: thehungrypartier Appendix 6: Snapchat Interview: thetrevormorrow

List of figures

Figure 1: The three stages of the data collection (own illustration)

List of tables

Table 1. Varieties of social constructivism (Collin, 2013)

1 Introduction

In the movie "The social network" (Fincher, 2010), one of the characters, Sean Parker, mentions the progress of online communication, contemplating on the idea that people will end to live their life in a digitalized reality: "*We lived on farms, and then we lived in cities, and now we're going to live on the internet*" ¹. For a while now, social media has been part of our everyday life. More than one third of us are spending our time on social platforms (Lang, 2010). One of the purposes of social media is to let people form groups or subgroups where they can meet on different online platforms and discuss common topics of interest (Mangold & Faulds, 2009).

According to Harris (2009), some of the most common platforms of social media are used for social networking, text messaging, shared photos, podcast, streaming videos, wiki, blogs, discussion groups and more (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Harris, 2009). As a general definition, Social media (SM) can be defined as "a group of Internet based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundations of Web 2.0, and it allows the creation and exchange of user-generated content" (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). Based on this definition, there can be said that SM is the bridge between people to connect, share, and create information in a virtual community (Yates & Paquette, 2011; Ngai, Tao, & Moon, 2015). Most of the online applications are summing up these characteristics for the users (e.g. Facebook, Instagram or Twitter), but one application in particular is starting to win domain in the online sector due to its unique characteristics (Kosoff, 2015; Beck, 2016; Levy, 2016). The mentioned application is Snapchat and is a new phone app, which is very popular among SM users (Betters, 2015; Hall, 2016).

Snapchat is a context-based application where users are sharing their photos and videos with a person, a group or as a public content. The unique setting of Snapchat is that all the contents are available for a short period of time and then they disappear forever,

¹ Speech by Sean Parker (Justin Timberlake) from "The Social Network" - 2010

making the content ephemeral in essence (Betters, 2015; Luckerson, 2015; Mcculley, 2015). When the CEO of Snapchat, Evan Speigel, was asked "What is Snapchat?"², he presented the evolution of photography and communication, and that nowadays the photography and video are very much used as a new form of talking (Dredge, 2015). Therefore, Snapchat is trying to fit the trends and fulfill the social's media purpose, which is "to be together" when we are not physically together (Bayer et al., 2016). As an application, Snapchat has different features, but for this particular paper, the interest of the researcher falls on the Snapchat Live section of the application. This feature enables users to see and experience the essence and raw truth of destinations and different events across the globe (Robertson, Unknown; Mcculley, 2015; Fynbo, 2016). The interesting fact of Snapchat Live is that these video and photo snaps are online for 24 hours and then they disappear (Robertson, Unknown; Fynbo, 2016). Many of the authors recommend this application for traveling purposes, where users can post live, pictures or videos about their traveling experience without them being alternated (Tolisano, 2015; Manalo, 2015; Group, 2015; Sloane, 2015; Wojdylo, 2015; Fynbo, 2016). Therefore, the researcher considered interesting to research the implications of Snapchat Live into a tourism related context. Later on the purpose of Snapchat Live for this paper will be explained.

The interest of this topic is strongly connected with the personal experience of the researcher with the application. The curiosity for this topic appeared when once installed the Snapchat application on the phone, I was able to watch live photos and video snaps from different destinations and events each day. Short videos and photos were complied together to tell the story of a particular event or destination. The thing which made the application interesting was the fact that these videos and photos weren't planned or have not followed any script, but they were the raw truth about what can one find at these events or in these destinations. Behind these compilations of videos there are many other users who have helped and send the related photos or videos to the topic. Therefore, the topic of community on Snapchat regarding various

² Snpachat presentation by CEO Evan Spiegel: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ykGXIQAHL nA – CEO Snapchat Evan Spiegel – What is Snapchat?

destinations will be interesting to investigate in this paper.

The principle of a community is to help people to have a purpose and to create memories in a comfortable circle of people (Bayer et al., 2016). According to a Ted Talk, Kramer mentions the necessity to share our experiences, where social media is the most accessible medium to share and contact our friends and family (Kramer, Unknown). People tend to share at length the small or funny moments to others through social media (Bayer et al., 2016). Sending a photo or a video has a bigger impact on the message and studies have shown that people respond better to this type of communication (Anderson K. E., 2015). Moreover, the sense of community can be defined as the relationship between humans to which they work to improve and ensure a healthy environment to live in (Maclellan-Wright, et al., 2007; Townley et al., 2011). The sense of community is based on the connection between people on how they work together for a common goal (Aref, 2011). One will say that following the crowd will make you part of the community, in fact participating actively to a set of local events or developing activities have more power on establishing the sense of community (Aref, 2011). Therefore, in this paper there will be explored the sense of community in 24 hours on Snapchat Live.

Communication through social media has a multitude of options and users have different ways of sending a message text (photos or videos). Studies have shown that these ways of communication reveal patterns of topics for a discussion (Ngai, Tao, & Moon, 2015). These patterns often are used as an input for creating a narrative story. The topics can vary. The users can relate to different subject themes, such as events (personal or social) or locations (a particular destination which is special in the user's eye) (Mangold & Faulds, 2009). Placed in a common environment, these topics can make the user feel like he is part of a community and enhance the "together" factor (Riviere, 2005). Being part of social media, can give as much real interaction as a face-to-face discussion. People will always search for options to connect and interact. Social media is giving the perfect environment for people to find a common ground to meet no matter the

distance or differences (Laroche, Habibi, & Richard, 2013). Therefore, social media and sense of community are concepts that are working together. For this paper, they will be used to investigate the sense of community on Snapchat Live.

Furthermore, the context based platforms of social media can be characterized as entities represented by a person, place or item. These are relevant in order to ensure the connection between the user and the online (Buhalis & Foerste, 2015). Research shows a broad subject for the other social media tools (e.g. Facebook, Instagram or Twiter) but not so much for Snapchat. The gap in the literature regarding the last one can be the subject of a multitude of topics concerning the users, the company app and external actors. For this paper, the research will concern the users and their involvement in creating different social constructions to be identified by the other users. To be mentioned, the subject of analysis for this paper is to understand the community sense of the Snapchat users placed in a public content.

1.1 Problem formulation

• To what extend there can be build a strong sense of community on Snapchat Live during a 24 hours live destination broadcast?

In order to answer the problem formulation there will be used a theoretical framework, which will study the subjects of *social media, sense of community, Snapchat and travel bloggers*. These subjects will be detailed in the following chapter and later discussed in the analysis chapter.

The subject of *social media* is used to understand the online communities and how they influence different sectors of business; for this paper, there will also be discussed the term of social media in tourism. The researcher is interested into how social media works in the tourism sector; other business sectors are of no interest. Social media is the

place where people gather in different communities to share or communicate common ideas of joint interests. The sense of community in this research is explored to understand how online groups are getting together to be part of an online event.

The current paper is a study case about the *Snapchat* phone app, in particular *Snapchat Live*. To the best of the researcher's knowledge, there hasn't been written any paper regarding the degree of sense of community on Snapchat Live 24 hours live broadcast. The intention of this research is to explore the Snapchat Live community, which in 24 hours is showing the unaltered image of a destination. The contributors of these online communities are *travel bloggers*. They share trough social media their travel experiences, which generates a constructed content regarding tourism destinations. For this research, the travel bloggers represent the experts of the tourism industry. The reason for their participation in this research is represented by their travel experience and understanding of social media.

2 Theory

During the following chapter, there will be explained the theoretical framework used for this paper. The chapter starts with introducing the reader into the subject of social media and the connection to the tourism industry. Social media is important to be mentioned in order to understand online communities and function of Snapchat. Further, there will be discussed the subject of *sense of community* on social media and *value co-creation* about destinations. Sense of community is also the investigated topic in this research and for that matter it was important to be mentioned. In continuity, there will be presented the subject of *Snapchat* and *Snapchat Live* in order to understand the base of the mobile app as well as its features, in particular Snapchat Live – the sense of community is investigated on this feature. A brief presentation of *travel bloggers* will be found at the end of this chapter, where the empirical data will be based on interviews with them.

2.1 Social media

The term of social media was coined in the 2000's with the appearance of My Space and Facebook, but the original concept appeared in late 70's. Tom Truscott and Jim Ellis from Duke University, created a worldwide discussion system where Internet users where able to post public messages. Later on in the 90's it appeard "Open Diary", a networking platform which brought together diary writers in one community (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). The contribution of these two millstones in the history of social media has led to the evolution of Web 2.0. (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Lewis, 2012) (this concept will be later explained). SM is a broad subject to be discussed, which is not the aim of this research. In this particular case, the researcher is using SM only as the platform on which social constructions and communities are built. The subject of SM will be used only to understand and link further theories, which will be later presented.

Over the time, SM concept received various definitions mentioning the evolution and characteristics of the context. One of the definitions explains SM as a technological innovation, both in hardware and software, where users can interact, create, or communicate a common content (Wasserman & Faust, 1994; Peters et al., 2013). Kaplan (2009) agrees and adds that SM is formed from Internet-based applications where users can share opinions, insights, experiences and perspectives (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2009). Moreover, SM is an educational tool, where users educate each other regarding different products, brands, media, or services (Mangold & Faulds, 2009; Laroche et al., 2012). In other words, SM is a platform where users can generate a common content by sharing different views of their interests.

A basic classification of the SM can include *blogs, user generated content communities*, social networking sites, virtual game, and social worlds etc. (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). Additionally, SM is moving to mobile, breaking down the barriers between the time and location limitations (Peters et al., 2013; Hanna, Rohm, & Crittenden, 2011). The term of social media is a construction of two study areas, communication science and sociology (Wasserman & Faust, 1994). In terms of communication, social media represents just a medium of storage or transmitting the information, whereas the sociology, specifically social networks, is leading users (individuals or organizations) to form social structures to be connected by shared views and beliefs (Peters et al., 2013). As for the users of SM, there can be identified six types of SM users: *creators* (write, create, and upload), *critics* (review the content), collectors (sort the online content and are influencers of SM), joiners (visit and maintain social networks), spectators (consumers of SM), and inactives (Isakovic & Sulcic, 2008; Howard, 2009). Therefore, for this research the researcher will focus on social structures and the collectors (bloggers – they will be presented in subchapter 2.4), which aims to give an answer on social groups on the phone application Snapchat Live from the problem formulation.

With the evolution of SM, the concept of Web 2.0 blasted on social life successfully, this

led to an interactive model of communication. From this point, the users weren't only the receivers, but active initiators and recipients of the information exchange (Hanna, Rohm, & Crittenden, 2011). Web 2.0 has changed the stage for SM users giving them power to develop, contribute, collaborate, customize, and distribute the online content (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Khang, Han, & Ki, 2014). With the new attributes given by the newly improved facet of SM, users found themselves divided into specific communities. These were the result of shared ideas and views, where users started to identify with users with whom they were able to discuss their common interests (Lewis, 2012). Therefore, Web 2.0 is SM but with a flexible and friendlier environment where users find themselves sharing and creating content with like minded users.

At the beginning of this paper, it was mentioned that sharing content on a social online platform makes people feel connected and part of a community. Being part of an online community can have the same effect as being face-to-face, enhancing the "together" factor (Riviere, 2005). The *Maslow's Pyramid of needs* ³ (Poston, 2009), (which defines accurately the concept of six levels of human needs), articulated the thought process of feeling connected and being part of a community. Thus, there can be observed that level of love and belongingness (social level), is the border between the basic needs level and *self-fulfillment level*. Even though all the levels are important to understand how humans are functioning, the interest of this research is the *social level*. By focusing only on this level, the researcher aims to understand the motives of SM users to use online platforms.

The social level represents the people's need of belongingness to their family, friends, or intimate partners (Tardini & Cantoni, 2005; Harsha, 2008). There is point out that one of the main reasons why people join SM is to fill in these needs of fulfillment and togetherness (Harsha, 2008). Moreover, the feeling of being socially connected is part of the central element of one's psychological sense of community (Laroche et al., 2012).

³ Maslow's Pyramid of Needs is a five stage model with representations of the human needs. Maslow wanted to understand the needs of people and what motivates them. In order to do so he designed the Pyramid of needs. The five stages can be identified as: 1. Physiological 2. Safety 3. Belonging 4. Self-Esteem 5. Self-Actualization (Poston, 2009). Therefore, for this paper there will be discussed only the belonging level

Morrow (2014) talks about the beauty of staying connected with family and friends, but also with artists or sport related events through SM. Another characteristic, which is playing an important role in the communication with others on SM, is blogging (Morrow, 2014). The characteristics and usage of the term blogging in this research will be explained in the next chapters.

Authors mention that people are also linked by the physical interaction and SM will only weaken these links (Davis, 2001; Gackenbach, 2011). Despite this idea, SM is a flexible environment and users can easily create the necessary functions to fulfill their specific needs (Anonymous, 1998). Rheingold (1999) argues that people will always use the new technology to fit their needs and not for what is firstly intended by its inventors (Rheingold, 1999). According to this statement, the technology of SM can be used in accordance to the user's needs. People will use this tool to create communities where they can fulfill the need of belongingness with like-minded people.

Each community is context based and members are sharing, discussing, and exchanging ideas regarding a particular topic. The online communities have a great impact on how each industry is developing. The tourism sector is getting more interesting for SM every day (Gyimóthy, Munar, & Larson, 2014). Further, there will be discussed the relation of SM within the tourism sector. This topic is relevant to answer the problem formulation regarding the formation of an online community on a destination. The subject of community will be further explored in the next subchapter.

2.1.1 Tourism social media

SM and Web 2.0 have managed to find their way in most of the aspects of our life. As discussed before, SM is a very important influence of how we perceive people, business, or social (Hanna, Rohm, & Crittenden, 2011). Regarding the current paper, the research is related and aimed to the tourism industry and therefore the researcher is interested about SM in tourism, and how is SM different from tourism social media. With the evolu-

of SM and appearance of Web 2.0, the tourism industry was one of the domains in which users were able to see the difference (Leung et al., 2013). Philip C. Wolf⁴ has labeled the new Web 2.0 applications from the tourism sector as Travel 2.0, where the content created will give a different image of the tourism world (Miguéns, Baggio, & Costa, 2008). Tourism social media is an extension of SM where users with interest on travel and tourism are sharing and commenting on this subject (ibid.). The tourism industry has clearly suffered changes in the last few years. With the introduction of the Web 2.0, tourists now don't just get the information from the online platforms, but they have the chance to influence what is posted (Munar, Gyimóthy, & Cai, 2013).

Tourists nowadays have the power to share, comment, or explore on destinations before, during, or after their travel experience. This step is a major leap into the future of traveling and how destinations are perceived (Weinberg, 2009; Gyimóthy, 2013). Web 2.0 has become more than just an informational medium, but is a technological tool, which is changing social interactions and communications, enhancing the online relationships (Weinberg, 2009). Since the progression of the Web 2.0, the tourism industry has expanded tremendously, adding a more raw and unaltered image of the destinations (Miguéns, Baggio, & Costa, 2008; Xiang & Grezel, 2010). Tourists are sharing on different platforms their experience or they provide tips and recommendations of do's and don'ts in a destination. In the new Web 2.0, tourists are engaged and contribute to the tourism industry more than before (Xiang & Grezel, 2010). Their participation in the online communities enables new ways of communications, creating the online effect of word-of-mouth (Kimmel & Kitchen, 2015).

As mentioned before, users are actively online on social media to share, communicate or create a content-based subject (Kimmel & Kitchen, 2015). In this case, travelers are sharing their travelling experiences in the online communities to accentuate the tourism fluid experience (Gyimóthy, 2013). Social media in tourism is based on emotions and imaginative travel, where the mundane is just a memory of the reality (Munar,

⁴ President and CEO of PhoCusWright, a leading consultancy firm in the tourism arena.

Gyimóthy, & Cai, 2013). Supposedly, the online tourism experience is altering the overall experience of the travel, where tourists are more concerned about what picture or video they share rather than enjoying the destination (Munar & Jacobsen, 2013; Ek, 2013). Jansson's (2002), on other hand, mentions that by sharing and committing to find a good moment that reflects the overall experience of the travel, enhances the on-location awareness (Jansson, 2002). Moreover, tourism social media can be perceived as a storytelling environment based on collective value creation (Munar & Jacobsen, 2013).

Tourism social media gives a sense of knowledge and appreciation for the destinations which are uncommon or presenting the old destinations from a different light (Jansson, 2002). For tourists sharing on SM is part of the holiday enjoyment, where they forget about the everyday life. Moreover, sharing the excitement of the holiday is vital in producing new or adding content to the online communities (Munar & Jacobsen, 2013). Therefore, by sharing, tourists feel a sense of identity with the shared content and can also strength their cultural view, richness in improving knowledge or ideas (Ek, 2013). Thus, the relation of this subject with the research stands in the online app Snapchat and the destinations that are presented each day in a social online content.

2.2 Sense of community on social media

From a sociological standpoint, a community is a deep, familiar, and cooperative connection that the members of a group share (McMillan & Chavis, 1986). According to Durkheim, the community is a sign of solidarity and loyalty to a shared set a values; he pins this as the collective conscience. Niesbet (1970) agrees with these statements and also mentions the personal intimacy, emotional depth, moral commitment, social cohesion and continuity in time. However, these links are not exclusive, but rather reactive, contradictory and complementary (Cohen & Kennedy, 2007). The social link nowadays is transformed by fear and global changes for which people find peace in local communities and forms of belongings (Cohen & Kennedy, 2007; Moscardo, 2008). According to some authors, communities can be classified in three levels (Muniz & O'Guinn, 2001; Cohen & Kennedy, 2007):

1. *Localism*: here there can be identified the small communities such as families, kin, ethnic and subnational sentiments.

2. *Nationalism*: groups that seek to improve or reform the state of a nation as form of loyalty and association.

3. *Transnationalism and multi-level identity*: the community level here is represented by organizations, groups or individuals which are trying to bring awareness on diversity and positive links between people at a local, national or global level.

People, who join SM, as mentioned at the beginning of this research, share the same desire to fulfill a need of belongingness. McAlexander (2002) relates, "*a community is made up of its entities and the relationship among them*" (McAlexander, Schouten, & Koenig, 2002). Based on this statement there can be said that the community factor is one of the most important characteristics of SM. In a SM community, the members are part of an interactional process where they comment, like or dislike, and create online content, which is shared in the digital environment (Hanna, Rohm, & Crittenden, 2011; Seraj, 2012; Laroche, Habibi, & Richard, 2013). Therefore, the term of community is the extension of one's need to feel connected to the others in order to not feel alone.

Based on McMillan (1986), sense of community represents the "spirit of belonging together, a feeling that there is an authority structure that can be trusted, an awareness that trade, and mutual benefit come from being together, and a spirit that comes from shared experiences that are preserved as art" (McMillan & Chavis, 1986). Additionally, memories and the history of a group are quite definitive for a group. The sense is defined by the people who are involved in discussions and decision-making process, in which they protect and nurture the shared ideas of the community (Rovai, 2002). Belonging is more a state of faith and acceptance where they are representative for the sense of community. "Faith that I will belong", as presented by McMillan (1996), is referring to the attraction that one might feel regarding a group (McMillan, 1996). One can hope that he/she is accepted as they are. Most of the times, people connect with famil-

iar environments and where they feel welcomed. *Acceptance* is the group/community response of the previous (McMillan, 1996). If an individual has the duty to demand their right to belong to a group, the group has the responsibility to accept that member (Mc-Millan & Chavis, 1986; McMillan, 1996). When the desired community accepts one, then the attraction is even stronger (McMillan & Chavis, 1986). Therefore, sense of community is the need of belongingness of members of a community, where they are linked by common understandings of concepts and memories.

According to the *nteractionist theory*, the social interactions are more than just receiving and transmitting the content (Peters et al., 2013). People have the power to perceive, evaluate, augment, or alter the meaning in many ways (Edvardsson, Tronvoll, & Gruber, 2011). In that sense, social roles are relative and they can't be pinned to something permanent. The social roles are always changing, action based on members behavior in a social group (Seraj, 2012). The dynamic of the change stands in the process of the social interaction where groups are constantly aspiring to attract more members and for a superior social role (Peters et al., 2013). Riviere (2005) comments on improving communication and members' interaction, by the use of a hyper-real language (Riviere, 2005). The visual effect is a very important aspect for communication these days and users of SM are using more often this type of communication for an efficient real-time message (Ling & Pedersen, 2005).

Another aspect that needs to be taken in an account when discussing sense of community on SM is the *personal extensibility* of the members (Okazaki & Taylor, 2013). When Web 2.0 was introduced, the users' possibilities to connect with the others multiplied tremendously. Families, friends or groups of any kind are at one click away. Personal extensibility refers to the ability of a person or group to overcome the time and space through technological communication (Riviere, 2005; Okazaki & Taylor, 2013). This approach is innovative in regards to developing new communication technologies, because in this way people will be able to cut the necessary time in order to connect

with the others (Parameswaran & Whinston, 2007). It has been argued that when distant connections are easier to uphold, the social patterns are also changing, meaning that social groups will always find new ways to communicate and be together (Rhein-gold, 1999). Sense of community is one of the focus points of the problem formulation and therefore is important to explore the process of co-creation regarding a tourism content on SM. Further there will be explored the co-creation value in the tourism industry on SM.

2.2.1 Value co-creation in tourism industry through social media

Co-creation is an interactive process on which the users of SM share, comment, or like their ideas, thus creating new knowledge (Prebensen, Chen, & Uysal, 2014). The reason why the concept of co-creation is included in this paper is because it stands at the base of SM and Web 2.0. and adds a new understanding on how communities are working on online platforms.

Tourism social media is a complex set a factors which entails aspects such as type of destination and travel form, also levels of e-literacy, demographic factors (age or nationality and personality characteristics of the tourists) (Gyimóthy, Munar, & Larson, 2014). Although sharing travel experiences on SM may look fun, studies show distinct characteristics in terms of the type of content shared as well for the type of platform that the tourist is using (Bowen & Clarke, 2009). Pan (2006) acknowledges that the online platforms can support many types of communications and for that matter the users have the freedom to decide on the context that they personally reflected upon. As a response against the planned image by the promoters, the users created blogs to diminish the promoters control over the shared context (Pan & Fesenmaier, 2006) The Internet has a huge influence on image creation in the tourism industry, and more, the tourist can easily find the resources to find the information that they need.

The virtual community has a great effect on how the tourism industry is perceived. Due

to their communication tools, the travelers are becoming part-time marketers and value co-creators (Gyimóthy, Munar, & Larson, 2014). Most of the times, a shared content from these travelers is more trustworthy and authentic than the messages coming from media or travel agents. This phenomenon alters the local branding and the promotional messages for the tourism industry (Kozinets, Hemetsberger, & Schau, 2008; Gyimóthy, Munar, & Larson, 2014). Nonetheless, the amateur opinions coming from travelers are constructing and contributing to the travel experience. These opinions are often based on fantasy, emotions and playfulness (Kozinets, de Valck, Wojnicki, & Wilner, 2010). Tourists are value co-creators, and with this label come also the responsibility to continue and sustain the work for developing the image of the tourism industry. As such, tourists can be seen as key elements of development and innovation, which concerns the evolution of tourism industry (Kozinets, Hemetsberger, & Schau, 2008; Kozinets, de Valck, Wojnicki, & Wilner, 2010).

The co-creation process involves also the destination (Gyimóthy, Munar, & Larson, 2014). The tourists are an active and networked consumer which provides different meanings of the destination culture. But how does the destination contribute to the value co-creation? The travelers can give a different perspective to a destination due to their extended knowledge on travelling, and dealing with various cultures (Kozinets, Hemetsberger, & Schau, 2008). Larson (2012) identifies three types of value co-creation strategy, as it follows: (Gyimóthy, Munar, & Larson, 2014). Based on this classification, the destinations control over the value co-creations is progressively passed to the community member.

According to the above, the sense of community is a very important factor on SM. Obviously, the online platforms can't function without the community factor. All the shared content is made and promoted by members of these communities. In regards of this research, the discussed subject is important in order to understand the online communities in relation to the tourism sector and the way they construct the image of a destination.

2.3 Snapchat

The SM world has evolved tremendously in the last few years which led to a change in the meaning of the ephemeral digital content. If the traditional meaning of the ephemeral was standing in post cards, brochures', fliers etc, the modern image reflects upon complex creations of the digital content which live for a short period of time (Anderson K. E., 2015). The opportunities to use the new digital ephemera are countless, and for that reason very hard to quantify. The Library of Congress announced in 2010 a project with the purpose to categorize the content on SM. Three years later, the project was still standing but facing difficulties to grasp the magnitude of the digital content. However, nowadays the project has become infeasible due to the mentioned obstacles (Duke, 2010; Allen, 2013; Scola, 2015). Even though is difficult to categorize the ephemeral digital content, there has been acknowledged the importance into the daily life (Silverstone, 1989; Anderson K. E., 2015; Bayer et al., 2016).

Changing the contextual idea of the digital ephemeral gave the chance to be developed new social applications. One of the main representative characteristics of these is a specific set of time or number for which the content is available (Anderson K. E., 2015). A particular application has showed fast development in the SM and that is Snapchat. One of the authors' acknowledges *"the rise in Snapchat use has been one of the most rapid and unprecedented in the history of instant messaging services and social networking sites"* (Piwek & Joinson, 2016). Snapchat was invented in 2011 by Evan Spiegel and Bobby Murphy, with the idea of *"communicating with the full range of human emotion—not just what appears to be pretty or perfect"* (Evan, 2012). The application was very fast accepted by millennials at first (Perez, 2014; Kosoff, 2015; Guest, 2016). They were sending photo snaps to their friends as a way of communication. The content was available only for maximum 10 seconds (as generated by the sender). Afterwards, it was disappearing, making the communication process intriguing (Snapchat, 2016). Later on, Snapchat got attention from the business and media sector as well (Anderson K. M.,

2016; Patel, 2016; Gioglio, Unkown). The new channel of communication was a sure way to connect with the teenagers, which represent an important segment in the online sector (Anderson K. E., 2015).

With the new interest, Snapchat has developed new features, which are appealing for a wider range of users. From the new additions of the application, the curiosity of the researcher lies on the Snapchat Live feature. Furthermore, there will be explained the characteristics of the mentioned and its importance in the tourism sector.

2.3.1 Snapchat Live

On October 2013 *Snapchat* introduced *Snapchat Stories* (Snapchat, 2013). The system for the new feature was to collect individual snaps into a narrative story, which can be available for 24 hours (Snapchat, 2013). An interest from the business sector was bound to happen and various organizations saw a potential in this feature (Manalo, 2015; Wagner, 2015; Mansfield, 2015). In order to accommodate the attention from the business actors, Snapchat had updated Snapchat Stories. At the beginning, the snaps were available only 10 seconds and shared only with friends. With the new updates, the users of Snapchat Stories were able to share the content with everyone and creating a longer story, which can be viewed many times (Anderson K. E., 2015; Snapchat, Unknown). By July 2014, Snapchat Stories got upgraded with its own feature, *Our Story* (Snapchat, 2014) (also known as *Snapchat Live* – through this research, *Our Story* will be referred as Snapchat Live (SL), in order to avoid confusion during the research). The new upgrade was delivering the same type of narrative content, but this time everybody was involved in the creation of the story. From users to Snapchat staff to media, everybody was able to add their input on SL (Franzen, 2014).

SL presents an unaltered image regarding the experience of different festivals, sport, political event and cultural celebrations. The users are able to experience the raw image of these events from the perspective of many. Each day is a "day in the life" of a city, such

as Oslo, Madrid, or Rio (Anderson K. E., 2015; Tolisano, 2015; Fynbo, 2016). Many authors acknowledge the influence that SL has on destinations, where everyday users can get a glimpse of what a normal day is in a particular destination (Murphy, 2014; Wojdylo, 2015; Nodes, 2015).

2.3.2 Tourism destinations on Snapchat Live

SL is a very big influencer of how destinations and events, which are occurring in various locations, are seen by the entire world (Dua, 2014; Mcculley, 2015; Fynbo, 2016). For the tourism industry, SL is a new platform, where tourists can meet together to share experiences or to find the next destination where to travel (Fontein, 2015; Scarborough, 2016; Freeman, 2016). The first destination which was broadcasted on SL started in the Caribbean, and later cities such as Tokyo or Dominican Republic appeared on the SL feature (Wright, 2015; Wojdylo, 2015). According to many of the authors, SL brings a true, raw and authentic glimpse of the city (Dodson, 2015). The narrative city stories are showed in a "real-timeish" and after 24 hours they disappear (Mcculley, 2015). A SL story can start from the morning, continuing with different events around the city during the day, and ending in the evening (Dua, 2014). This kind of scenario really presents to the viewer a day in that particular city.

The content from each destination is generated from an online Snapchat community formed from locals and tourists from these destinations. This aspect gives a unique image of the destination, one different from what media in general is trying to present (Anderson K. E., 2015). As one of the authors mentions "*Snapchat for travel is inviting*" (Robertson, Unknown). Every city story is personal and each participant, local or tourists, try their best to show their view of a particular place (Sloane, 2015). Dua (2014) is agreeing, "*…Snapchat is designed for personal, unguarded and free-flowing experiences…*" (Dua, 2014). SL is often used as check-in service by the users in order to let friends and families know where they are and what they are doing (O'Reilly, 2015). The personal aspect of SL is a given when most of the content on the platform is constructed by people for people.

The literature research has also presented SL as an educational tool for those who are not familiar with certain destinations or situations from different parts of the world. In the summer of 2015, Snapchat Live had as city guests Tel Aviv, West Bank, and Nairobi. The first two cities were in a political distress at that time, and the last one unknown in the eyes of the travel world (Drescher, 2015; Ungerleider, 2015). Their presence on SL had both positive and negative comments. In the case of Tel Aviv and West Bank, many misunderstood the stories, claiming that they were not presenting the real side of the story (Braun, 2015; Ries, 2015). The presence of Nairobi was unexpected because this one it was not a known destination in the tourism industry, and some weren't impressed by the SL story to visit the destination (Wojdylo, 2015). These are just two of the examples for which SL is considerate a medium where users can expect something else than just a travel channel. Fynbo (2016) acknowledges "...*The popular app is becoming eyes to the world -- perhaps even for the most close-minded people*" (Fynbo, 2016). In other words, SL can also be an informational channel about what is happening behind the scenes in a particular destination, not only for tourism related issues.

For this paper, SL represents the SM tool, which will be investigated in order to answer the problem formulation. The research question explores destinations on a social platform; therefore SL is the domain, which will be investigated further in this research.

2.4 Bloggers

The term of bloggers is used to identify the virtual writers of a blog (Jenkins, 2006; Agarwal, Lei Tang, & Yu, 2008; White, 2013). They can be characterized as complainers, lovers or fighters, where most of them adopt more than one characteristic; but before they can be labeled, bloggers are filters (White, 2013). For bloggers, the informational volume is enormous and they need to know how to curate the right topics, which will be of interest for the readers. Another task which they fulfill is the one of editing the published content. Due to the wide range of public material, bloggers are not working just with text. Their blog can consist of pictures, likes, comments, videos, everything that can

be recognized as a method of communication (Jenkins, 2006; White, 2013).

As any other magazine or newspaper, bloggers need to identify a niche (Flynn, 2006; White, 2013). Writing about personal life or "kittens", that is not blogging, but rather an online diary (White, 2013). True bloggers write about subjects that matter within their niche of expertise (Flynn, 2006). Blogging is a communication process where knowledge is passed from one expert to the other. Although many times the blog process can interfere with corporate interests, such as product marketing, blogging can also be a tool to understand culture (Jenkins, 2006).

The subject of this research lies into the tourism industry, which represents the bloggers niches. Furthermore, in the following subchapter, the subject of *travel bloggers* will be discussed. This subject is important to be mentioned because travel bloggers represent the expert interviews, which will be analyzed later on in the analysis chapter. A presentation of the interviewees will be conducted in the following chapter.

2.4.1 Travel bloggers

Travel blogs are "individual entries which relate to planned, current or past travel... are the equivalent of personal online diaries ... commonly written by tourists to report back to friends and families about their activities and experiences during trips" (Pühringer & Taylor, 2008). As presented before, blogs are a source of information and for the tourism industry they are a representation of one or many, of the travel experience (Banyai & Glover, 2012; Tse & Zhang, 2013). Readers can find on these travel blogs recommendations regarding accommodation, cuisine, activities or "must see" location and more (Pan, MacLaurin, & Crotts, 2007; Akehurst, 2008). The writers of these travel blogs, travel bloggers, are the link between the destination and the reader. They document every step or what they think is important to be shared, in order to give a different perspective of the destination to their followers (Bosangit, McCabe, & Hibbert, 2009; Azariah, 2012). The shared content is a sign of self-expression and social interaction with

Although a travel blogger can suggest an in-depth understanding of the destination, some authors are skeptic towards the actual experience with the destination (Carson & Schmallegger, 2007). On the other hand, Choi (2007) argues that a travel blog can enable new discoveries in a destination (Choi, Lehto, & Morrison, 2007). Travel bloggers can expose genuine opinions or attitudes and stumble upon strengths and weaknesses which are not presented in the media (Banyai & Havitz, 2013). Therefore, the travel bloggers represent the segment on which this research will be conducted.

3 Methodology

In the following chapter, there will be explained the research methods used for this paper as well as the philosophical approaches under which this paper was written. The chapter will be divided in two subchapters.

In the first part there will be explained the ontological and epistemological view in relation to the chosen paradigm. Prior to the problem formulation, the aim of this research is to investigate the degree of sense of community on a mobile app in a short period of time. The images send to the mobile app by the users are part of social constructions to form a narrative story regarding a destination. Therefore, this research is based in the social sciences and will be written under the social constructivism paradigm.

In the second part of the chapter there will be detailed the data collection techniques, including the analysis methods and details regarding the interview guide and the interviewees. The subchapter will include a model for the data collection in which it will be detailed the stages used in gathering the necessary information for this paper.

3.1 Philosophy of science: An ontological and epistemological view on the social constructivism paradigm

Peter Berger and Thomas Luckmann first presented the term of social constructivism in the 1996 book "The Social Construction of Reality". In their book they stress on the fact that the new knowledge is constructed on a daily basis from different levels of interaction (Collin, 2013; Egholm, 2014). Later on in 1994 other scholar, by the name of Ludwing Wittgenstein, added two new definitions to the term of social constructivism,

which present a deeper understanding of the paradigm (Holm, 2011). The first definition is referring to the meaning and context of language (*language games*). Each context is followed by rules that later decide the language game of the discussion. The second definition regards the movement of the language (*life-form*). We live in a world where we are constantly influenced by what we say; to a degree, these language games determine how we live our life (Holm, 2011). Previous to the problem formulation, the topic of this research is a social construction of the members' engagement through the SL app to show a constructed image that represents the degree of sense of community in regards of a destination. A common language, which consists in posts such as pictures and video snaps which ties the members. The common language used by the members is the result of a new knowledge regarding the destination and therefore lively representations of what they are sharing (language games -> life-form). Therefore, to understand the view of social constructivism on language and new knowledge, it is important to support these statements before the ontological and epistemological views of social constructivism.

The ontological and epistemological approaches for the social constructivists are represented by two characteristics with the purpose of creating a general idea of this paradigm. The first characteristic is related to the *material/physical* sphere and the *social* and *human* sphere, where they represent the ground of the paradigm construction. The second characteristic represents the different views between the *ontological and epistemic* constructivism (Collin, 2013). The basic beliefs of the ontological constructivist is concerning the nature of reality and world itself, where as the epistemic social constructivism is dealing with the individuals knowledge of the world (Guba, 1991; Holm, 2011; Collin, 2013; Lincoln & Guba, 2013; Kukla, 2013; Egholm, 2014). In order to understand the two social constructivist characteristic, Collin (2013) has constructed a table where there can be observed the varieties of social constructivism:

Ontology	Epistemology		
The material / physical world			
The material/ physical world is constructed by collecting the human thought and practive	Our knowledge about the material / physical world is constructed by collective human ghought and practive		
The social and human world			
The social and human world is constructed by collective human thought and practice	Our knoledge about the social and human world is constructed by collective human though and practice		

Table 1. Varieties of social constructivism (Collin, 2013)

As presented in the table above, the form of social constructivism is always highlighting the nature of reality and the construction of the social world. The overall idea of the term is based on the beliefs and tacit knowledge that one might have in relation to a subject (Bevir, 2010). The subject of sense of community is a representation of a group's intention to believe in the power of the many, where their ontological views are to present a common idea of the subject to the world (Collin, 2013; Egholm, 2014). The general idea of the paradigm is that the social world is a representation of our intentional actions (Bevir, 2010; Holm, 2011). In other words, through the process of socialization we acquire a set of beliefs and knowledge which directs the way we perceive the world (Egholm, 2014). SL is presenting this kind of process, contributing constantly to enriching the way members of the app may perceive a destination. Users of SM, and moreover Snapchat, are part of a group with a shared view of the world, which to some extent are automatically categorized. Social constructivism is arguing these beliefs, claiming that the members' intentions are very much influenced by traditions, discourses or systems of knowledge, which stand at the base of these social constructs (Bevir, 2010; Holm,

2011; Egholm, 2014). Alongside, the social actors build these beliefs and meanings, which later are acting upon it (Bevir, 2010).

Prior to the problem formulation, the aforementioned is standing as a frame in consideration to the literature review and research methods. Sense of community is presented as the central point of this research and for the discourse analysis (this type on analysis will be explained in the following subchapters) (Holm, 2011; Egholm, 2014). The direction of the research is very much influenced by the researcher (Holm, 2011). Being a social constructivist it allows the researcher to get involved in the research process. The paradigm is based on constructing new knowledge and meaning, therefore the researcher can interpret collected data in order to explore new findings. Besides, being active and part of the Snapchat community, I am involuntarily influenced by the mobile app content. As a user of Snapchat and a regular viewer of SL, I experienced both sides of the social constructivism ontological and epistemic views. As a social actor, the image perceived by the members of the SL community has influenced my view on how I see different destinations (Egholm, 2014). That was the starting point which constructed the idea about the research and later on directed the frame for the theoretical framework (Egholm, 2014).

3.2 Research methods: A social constructivist approach of a qualitative research

For this paper, the qualitative interviews with travel bloggers serve as the main type of data. The research is written under the social constructivism paradigm. According to this paradigm, social constructivism is based on identifying the language from a community where further is constructed a new knowledge. Therefore using a qualitative research is the obvious choice in pursuing this paper and also recommended by the social constructivism paradigm. Further, the model 1 will be presented, which is a representation of the stages that the researcher followed in order to gather the necessary understanding and data over the researched topic.

Stage 1

- Instaling the mobile app and understanding the Snapchat features
- Passive netnography over articles and travel blogs related to Snapchat and Snapchat Live



Stage 2 • Understanding of the literature review





- The optimal interview guide
- Purposive sampling- travel bloggers
- Preparing the data for the analysis

Figure 1: The three stages of the data collection (own illustration)

During the first stage of the data collection, the mobile app Snapchat was installed on the researcher's phone. Once that happened, by actively using the mobile app, other features were discovered, such as SL. In order to have a better understanding over the mobile app and the relation with travelling, there has been done a *passive netnography* over travel blogs and online articles (Bryman, 2008). Throughout the passive netnography phase, the researcher was only reading various online articles regarding the mobile app, in order to get familiar with the utility of Snapchat in tourism and travelling. The next step of the passive netnography was reading travel blogs, where travel bloggers were documenting their travel through Snapchat. Later on, the travel bloggers were picked as the segment (the purposive sampling and the interviewees' presentation will be explained in the following section of this subchapter) for this research. The passive netnography is recommended when the researcher's intention is to get acquainted with a particular topic (Kozinets R. V., 2010). This kind of research implies a passively observation of websites and related online platforms, to indentify various topics which may be of interest for the researcher (Lugosi, Janta, & Watson, 2012; Blichfeldt & Marabese, 2014).

Stage 2

Prior to the Snapchat installation and passive netnography, the researcher got interested in the sense of community on SL. The reason for this topic resulted from the researcher's curiosity towards the momentary process of co-creation of SL content as well as the ephemeral sense of community on this feature. Therefore, the literature review was build based on the researcher beliefs and review of stage 1. The pillar of this approach is accepted by the social constructivist paradigm, where people are influenced in the process of creating new knowledge (Holm, 2011; Egholm, 2014).

Stage 3

In the last stage of the data collection techniques model, there was constructed an optimal interview guide based on the passive netnography and the literature review. This

method was used in order to design a specific set of questions for the interviewees, and to obtain detailed answers in relation to the chosen topic for this research. In the next phase of this stage there were contacted travel bloggers. The sampling of the interviewees was done intentionally due to their close relation with the mobile app Snapchat, and understanding of the tourism industry (Bryman, 2012). For the last phase of this stage, the gathered data was prepared according to the discourse analysis motives (a further explanation of this method will be presented in the last section of this subchapter). Using the discourse method allows the researcher to find new meanings during the data collection, which can be used further in creating new knowledge (Holm, 2011; Egholm, 2014). Therefore, the relevant theories and collected data were compared and analyzed in the analysis.

3.2.1 The optimal interview guide and purposive sampling

The interviews were conducted through email (e-interviews) and Skype. In both cases, the reason why a face-to-face interview hasn't been done is because the distance between the researcher and the interviewees. Having a tight travel schedule, a face-to-face meeting would have implied a visit from one of the sides at the location where they live (in that moment). In regards of the interview types, both methods have positive and negative impacts on the overall result of the interview. The e-interviews consist in an exchange of emails between the interviewer and interviewee (Bryman, 2008). These types of interviews are comfortable for the interviewee because he/she is in their own environment and they can take their time to answer, but on a down side, it can lower the spontaneity of the answer and misunderstandings in the communication process (Bryman, 2012). This type of interview was used for the travel bloggers with a difficulty reaching them by a Skype meeting. The second method of interview is Skype. This type of interview, from where there can be accessed the video camera, can provide a more personal interaction between the interviewer and interviewee (Bryman, 2008; Bryman, 2012). In this sense, the answers can be interpreted on spot which can give the chance to go deeper in the topics of interest. Of course, this method is not flawless and technical problems (e.g. low internet speed, quality of the signal etc.) may discourage

the interviewee to continue with the interview. Nonetheless, this type of interview is more appropriate when the distance between the researcher and interviewee plays a huge role in scheduling a meeting.

The optimal interview guide represents the standing point of this research, where later will be used for the analysis. When constructing the interview guide, it was used the seven stages of creating an interview from Kvale (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2015):

Stage 1: Thematizing

The purpose of the research is to explore the degree of sense of community on SL during a 24 hours live broadcast of a destination. The researcher wants to investigate if there is possible to build a strong sense of community during this short period of time. The pre-obtained knowledge about SM, Snapchat and sense of community are the main topic, which stands at the base of the interview guide.

Stage 2: Designing

Prior to the first two stages from model 1, the interview design is based on the researcher's understanding in regards to Snapchat, SL, and the literature review. These two tools helped in identifying specific questions for the optimal interview guide. The next step in the process was to write as many questions as possible related to the topic, where after there were chosen or rewritten only the most relevant, among the sum of questions.

Stage 3: Interviewing

One person writes this project; therefore, solely the researcher of this paper did the interviews. As mentioned in the previous section, there were used two types of interviews, Skype and e-interview. In both types, the interview guide was the same; however, the researcher also experienced different topic changes or misunderstandings of the questions. Regarding Skype interviews, the low internet signal, the background noise or the availability of both side, influenced the quality of how the interview was held. In regards to the e-interview, there was an exchange of emails between the interviewer

and interviewee. The interview process was quite strict and impersonal in regards of the e-interview, but for the Skype interview, there was the possibility to go in-depth with some questions if it was necessary. Both interviews were performed in English, even though the interviewees had different nationalities. Therefore, the language barrier was too a factor in understanding some of the questions.

Stage 4: Transcribing

The researcher decided not to transcribe the Skype interviews. The reason behind this decision was the concern regarding the time that was supposed to be allocated for transcribing, where the same time could be used to write this paper. Even though there are no transcriptions of the Skype interviews, the recordings can be found at the end of this paper, on DVD. However, the e-interviews can be found in the annex section of this paper.

Stage 5: Analyzing

For this research there was used the method of the discourse analysis. The researcher divided the chapter in two sections. First section managed the analyses of the empirical data for the purpose of identifying the travel bloggers understanding on the subjects from chapter 2. The new findings will guide the path of establishing different understandings of the sense of community on SL based on the travel bloggers understanding.

Stage 6: Verifying

The interviews have exposed different themes and topics that are connecting the interviews. In order to ensure the reliability of the data, there was used the same interview guide for both Skype and e-interviews. The guideline of the interview questions was based on the researcher's understanding and the theoretical framework.

Stage 7: Reporting

The research data will be presented in the analysis in accordance to the social constructivism beliefs. During the Skype interviews, the researcher recorded them, with the

permission of the interviewees. Before starting, the reason and topic of the interview was briefly introduced in order to remind the interviewer the theme of the interview.

The sample size for this research consists in twelve interviews, with six females and six men. The even number of the genders was not on purpose, it's just a coincidence based on the availability and response of the interviewees. The age of the interviewees is not relevant for this research. The focus lies in the interested background of the interviewees, which is travel bloggers. In this case the sampling was purposive; method also recommended when doing a qualitative research (Bryman, 2008; Bryman, 2012). This research is mainly based on the SL feature of Snapchat, however, due to the settings of the app, getting in contact with the members from SL was impossible and therefore travel bloggers with knowledge about Snapchat and SL were the obvious choice for the continuity of this research.

3.2.2 Data analysis (discourse analysis)

The gathered data will be analyzed according to discourse analysis. This type of analysis is strongly recommended by social constructivists (Holm, 2011; Egholm, 2014). The reason why I choose to work with this type of analysis is because it allows to identify new knowledge and language through the data collection. When working with the discourse analysis, Taylor (2013) recommends four reasons to work with when analyzing the data collection and the literature review (Taylor, 2013). These will be later applied in the analysis chapter.

Reason 1: To work with interesting data

Exploring the ephemeral on SM and Snapchat has proven to be an interesting topic to research. During the research process, I, as the researcher and a common user of SM and Snapchat, have learned new aspects and characteristics about the two mentioned. My knowledge on community and the meaning of this concept has improved considerably in regards to how I perceive the online communities and their extent.
Reason 2: To investigate the practices and interactions of ordinary social life

The essence of the research is based on social interactions that are building communities on the online. The practices behind these communities consist in the ordinary shared on a social platform and the reaction afterwards. Snapchat represents a domain in which users are sharing the raw and unaltered reality of a situation. On another side of Snapchat is SL, where there can be observed the ordinary from a destination or event. Thus, these practices and interactions of SL users are of interest for the researcher.

Reason 3: To investigate a particular culture

The investigated culture for this research is the one of Snapchat. As presented at the beginning, Snapchat is quite a new tool on SM. Being part of Snapchat is like being part of a specific culture. The users of this app have a particular language and communicational system that they use, by means of photos or video snaps. That is why the researcher found interesting to research a community, which in essence is ephemeral but has such impact on social online nowadays.

Reason 4: To research identity

The purpose of this research was not to make a classification of gender, nationality or background of the travel bloggers. The only criterion for interviewees was for them to be travel bloggers and document their travel through Snapchat. Therefore, the identified identity for this research lies in the travel bloggers, no matter their sex, age or background. For this reason, travel bloggers were mainly used for their knowledge regarding destinations and SM platforms.

The purpose of the discourse analysis in this research is to understand and identify how the online content of SL is constructed by the feature users. Therefore, the travel bloggers will be used as representatives of the general collective to identify these social constructions and structures (Egholm, 2014). The study of discourse analysis will try to establish the object and subject positions of this research (Holm, 2011; Egholm, 2014). Hence, in the following chapter there will be presented the discourses of the data.

4 Analysis

In this chapter there will be explored the gathered empirical data into the theory framework from chapter 2, where the aim is to investigate de degree of sense of community on Snapchat Live, as it can be seen in the problem formulation and introduction. The analysis chapter will be divided in two subchapters. In the first subchapter there will be explored various themes which were investigated during the data collection in order to explore the understanding of the travel bloggers on the subjects from the theoretical framework. In the second subchapter there will be discussed various understandings of the sense of community on SL. These understandings will be the results of the analysis of empirical data and the interpretations of the researcher from part 1. In order to identify these understandings, there was used the tool of interpretation, as the social constructivism and discourse analysis are recommending (Egholm, 2014). As mentioned in methodology chapter, the analysis type for this research is based on discourse analysis. In that regards, the four reasons of Taylor (2008) were used to identify the subjects of interpretations for this research.

Part 1: Analysis of empirical data

During this subchapter there will be presented various topics which are based on the optimal interview guide. The related topics are important to identify the understanding of the travel bloggers in relation to the already mentioned subjects in chapter 2. The following subchapters represent the results of the researchers' interpretation on new knowledge which was identified during the interviews. The gathered knowledge will be used later to identify different meanings that the travel bloggers have on the degree of sense of community on SL.

4.1.1 Defining social media

SM has had a long development during the years, transcending from a tool with a one way of communication to a creative tool of sharing our experiences and life on the online platforms. As mentioned previously (subchapter 2.1.), introducing Web 2.0 has led to a flexible way of communication, where users can be active members during the process of discussion. The new stage of SM is more welcoming in regards to what users can do. As noted by Kaplan (2010), members of SM can go from developing to customize to distribute de online content as they please and to whom they consider that it will be appreciated. Many of the SM members which were interviewed are using this tool as way of keeping in contact with their family or friends, but at the same time to document their life.

"I like using social media for keeping in touch with friends and family. It's important to me that they know I'm safe when I'm traveling." (@penny764)

"For personal use, I think it is fantastic, because obviously with travelling a lot is just so great to keep in touch with friends and family back home, and before we didn't really have that, you had to call them or write a letter or something." (@thehostelgirl)

@penny764 and @thehostelgirl acknowledge the idea of staying connected with their close ones. One of the reasons to keep them posted is due to the easy reach of the friends or family trough SM. A second reason is to inform them about their wellbeing during their travels. The social level in this case is very much reached. Even though the travel bloggers are far away from home, by being online on SM gives them the interaction they need in order to feel that they are still being part of the community of their friends and family. The above-mentioned statements only confirm the statement of Rheingold (1991), where people will use new technology in manners never intended in the first place. Based on the same idea of Rheingold (1991), it has been shown that SM is a way for users to document not just their moments and travels, but also their life.

Posting and sharing a video or a photo on SM it gives to the users the occasion to follow their own life as well. In this way, they can remember forgotten moments or observe the important milestones from their life. @kickthegrind discusses the idea of following his life and the important moments during the years with the help of SM tools.

"...and document my life too. Because for me just having an ongoing reference is quite interesting, to go back a few years and see what I was doing and watch Snap Stories that I saved back then or videos, it's cool to have that, because no matter what age you are in the future being able to go back and see what you've done and be like "Oh, I forgot all about that one!" even if it's not the most interesting thing, being able to go back and see yourself like that, is very heartwarming too." (@kickthegrind)

@kickthegrind contemplates on his existence over time and space regarding the usage of SM. The thought about being able to be transported in a past memory it makes the respondent emotional regarding his previous work. According to the Maslow's Pyramid of needs (cf. subchapter 2.1), the *self-fulfillment* level represents the following level in the humans needs after the *love and belongingness*. This can be seen as a result of the previous level in the pyramid, where once the user of SM finds itself part of an online group, he is more aware of the past and memories.

The length of SM is going beyond the boundaries of family and friends. In a quest for acceptance and a feeling of belonging, the members of SM are parts of groups that share the same passion and interests as them.

"Social media is a great tool for connecting people in various different ways through interests, passion, news and more." (@cailinoneil)

The blogs and online virtual communities are the proof of the statement of @cailinoneil. With the introduction of Web 2.0, members of SM can easily find other people who are sharing the same perception of the world. They can comment, get informed or develop

content within a specific community which is built on their sole beliefs. At this point SM is a viewed as a strong learning tool from which members can get informed.

"People are learning and seeing things around the world live and in the moment that would never have been previously available to them had social media not come about." (@cailinoneil)

"Social media is amazing, and not only just to keep in touch, from wherever you are, with family and friends, but you can literally travel everywhere, not to say that as social media user you are exposed to an insanely amount of information from which you can learn a lot." (@thebrokebackpacker)

@cailinoneil and @thebrokebackpacker are expanding the understanding of SM, where the tool can be used also to teach, inform and educate. Looking back at subchapter 2.1, co-creation is the interactive process on which users of SM are getting engaged to share, comment or like ides, leading in the end to create new knowledge (Prebensen, Chen, & Uysal, 2014). The new knowledge in this case is represented by the *"insanely amount of information"* which users share on SM. By interacting and sharing, users of SM are authors of new meanings and language that is happening online. Every day the SM platforms are flooded with new information, which is influencing the views of how the world is perceived. As mentioned at the beginning (cf. Introduction), we are spending most of our time online, checking our email or liking a photo, SM is part of our life. Although being active on SM can have so many positive aspects, some are not quite pleased about using it.

"I would prefer a world in which I was not expected to do any social media, because is something that I don't particularly enjoy, but it's a necessary evil in order to get the people to care about what I am doing." (@baurjoe)

"A lot of people that I know that work in traditional media or work in word print or a bit older, look at social media as a necessary evil or they don't want to do it at all ..." (@krista_simmons)

As it can be observed, people are still skeptic in regards to SM and what it can offer due to the unexpected and unpredictability that SM presents. @baurjoe refers to SM as the method to reach people, even if he doesn't like to use SM. This shows acceptance from the respondent side and approval that things are changing, and being part of SM can only be controlled by the engagement of the user.

4.1.2 Social media on tourism destinations

The introduction of Web 2.0 in SM has brought a new perspective on how we perceive the world these days. Moreover, in the tourism sector, Web 2.0 has impacted destinations and influenced tremendously the way we travel. Nowadays, the common traveler is the link between the way the world and the online. Everything from positive to negative experiences are shared on the new SM. These days, tourists can find tips and follow different travelers who are documenting their traveling before, during and after, aspect, which can present a different image from post to post, or picture or video. Munar (2014) is mentioning the network factor and the fact that people trust more when somebody famous (for this paper the famous people are the travel bloggers) or trusted, are recommending a destination.

"Using myself as an example, people tell me every day that I have influenced them to take a trip from looking at my travels." (@thehungrypartier)

"It can have a positive and negative influence, but ultimately I think it will depend on your network, and the people you follow because everyone has a different experience." (@penny764)

"Before social media existed, if you wanted to go somewhere in the world, you asked your friends ..." (@thecrowdedplnt)

Being part of a network is certain and secure mostly because every member of the group has the same views as the next one. Everybody seeks the tips and recommendations from the ones who already have experienced that particular subject. In tourism, travelers look for travel blogs where they can find references regarding a particular destination. Travel bloggers are considerate most of the times the link between the destination and the world, due to their extensive experience in travelling and on particular destinations. Every post, picture or video shared by them has a huge influence on a destination, from a positive or negative image. The position of travel bloggers is a special one, because to some extend this is their job as a result of what they choose to work as. On another hand, for someone who is sharing their holiday pictures on SM, they still add value to a destination and can be called influencers, but among their family and friends. In any case, the effect of word-of-mouth has a strong impact on how destinations are perceived (Kimmel & Kitchen, 2015).

"From an influencer point of view, you have to be careful, because sometimes you have to remember that it's not just about you." (@thecrowdedplnt)

"I think it's great but because it is live, I have to be a bit careful not to divulge too much information for safety reasons, especially for my daughter." (@dishourtown)

@thecrowdedplnt and @dishourtown are clearly showing concern not just for their followers, but also for their appropriate family regarding a possible shared content on SM. In a study conducted by Riviere (2005), she mentions that people who are using SM tools are most likely to react to a picture rather than a text. The interactional process nowadays is slowly changing from sending a text to snapping a photo or a video with the desired content. Placed in an online environment, the snap can be interpreted in any way possible, depends only on the receiver's imagination. As the two respondents

agree, the way is placed the content on SM has a big impact on the perception of the destination. @thecrowdedplnt is contemplating the idea of the greater good and refers to her actions that might have a different turnover once the content is online. In that regards, she prefers to "*be careful*" when it comes to the shared content, and to accommodate the destinations needs rather than her personal feelings. When it comes to @dishourtown, the respondent is more concerned about the personal aspect of the people who will interact with her posts, in particular her family; therefore the shared content is based on the network's needs.

"I think in most cases that social media is creating positive views on the ways destinations around the world are perceived. Most times places around the world are being seen in their best light and the things that they are most well known for are being put into the spotlight. However, at the same time, the bad things about a destination are also being highlighted in the same way." (@cailinoneil)

As an overall image of SM on tourism destinations, the interviews have presented a positive picture on the influence that SM brings on a destination. The respondents mention that SM is presenting the destination raw and true. The factor of seeing a destination from different perspectives adds more than enough. Even though sometimes the soon to be travelers can see some negative opinions, these are just preparing them for the reality that they might find there.

4.1.3 An unaltered image through Snapchat

In less than four years since the release of Snapchat, the mobile app has managed to establish itself on SM as a strong communication tool among the online users. The mobile app is known mainly for its ephemeral content, where users can share snaps of videos or photos about what they are doing or the places they visit just for few seconds, then disappear. Another feature was later on added to Snapchat, where users of the app were able to create a narrative story during a period of 24 hours by compiling the videos and photo snaps. The aspect, which makes this app unique, is that there are limited

options to alter the content and it can be delivered in real time, in other words what you see is what you get. For travel, this kind of promotion or presentation of a destination satisfies the tourist's curiosity. Travel bloggers are more than happy because they don't have to spend hours to curate pictures and add filters in order to show the beautiful aspects of a place. Nowadays people expect something raw and natural, *"the true image of a destination"* (@thebrokebackpacker, 2016).

"... Snapchat can provide a more raw and real presentation of a destination. And in a world where almost every travel photo on Instagram is edited and cropped ever so perfectly, travelers are now looking to go beyond the Instagram photo, to see behind the scenes and to see how a place really looks like." (@thetrevormorrow)

According to @thetrevormorrow, Snapchat is showing the "behind the scenes" of a destination and travelers are more inclined to search for that kind of image rather than seeing a changed picture of a place. People are building expectations based on what they see and hear, planning to experience the same as what they've been presented. That is one of the purposes of SM and Snapchat as well, to let people influence people. Only by having the certainty that a fellow traveler has experienced the destination, one can get the knowledge that they need in order to engage in a similar or the same kind of travelling. Some of the respondents refer to Snapchat as being more personal than other SM platforms. By presenting your own opinion and recommendations in regards to a destination or a restaurant, one tends to believe more the person who is sharing a real time picture or video on Snapchat rather than going on other SM platforms.

"I think out of all the social media out there, it's the most real ... it's the one that real makes you feel like you are there." (@thecrowdedplnt)

"... I find it amazing, it's a quick way to be able to share content with a lot of people that wouldn't normally digest that content ... its very raw and relatable, and people they can essentially hang out with you at a more individual level, at a level that they can't do so on other platforms..." (@kickthegrind)

"I am more of a on the moment kind of guy and Snapchat is just giving me the freedom to share the on the spot moments from my travels." (@thebrokebackpacker)

The respondents only confirm what was stated in subchapter 2.3, Snapchat goes beyond the staged pictures and videos which can be seen on SM. Snapchat is driven by the situational momentum and users creativity in capturing the instant and unpredictable. @thecrowdedplnt, @kickthegrind and @thebrokebackpacker also reflect on the reality that Snapchat intends to capture, transporting the users on the destination in real time. Because most of the shared content is slightly altered and posted immediately on the mobile app, the users can experience the destinations as if they were there. The interaction process is more personal and travel bloggers are always engaging in regards to what they should visit next or some activity that they should try in a particular destination. In this way, the follower is hooked in the adventure and will continue to follow and ask questions. According to @kickthegrind, people can easily hang out with their favorite traveler blogger and visit their favorite place. Based on this reference, users of Snapchat can travel everywhere and see the destinations from a different perspective than the printed media or other online platforms are presenting them. Ultimately, the shared content of Snapchat can be considered a representation of our thoughts and feelings about how we perceive and see the world, which sometimes is not always positive. In that regards, people will always be drawn by the novelty and personal touch in the way destinations are presented, not because a beautiful post card with a great layout is not appealing, but is not showing the true self of the destinations and people relate to what they can apply on themselves (@kickthegrind, 2016).

4.1.4 Snapchat Live - 24 hours live broadcast on destiantions

SL is a new feature introduced by Snapchat (conf. section 2.3.1) where each day users of the mobile app can watch videos or photo snaps regarding a destination. The new feature of Snapchat has a great success among the known and less known destinations, where there can be observed the mundane and the extraordinary from these places.

"I think it's a great way for everyone to see the smaller areas of destinations." (@penny764)

"I like it ... using Snapchat to show a different side of some destination, different than what people see in the news media ... I like the Passport thing (SL), that's probably the one that I've enjoyed the most." (@baurjoe)

"I think it's incredible, most certainly, because you can go somewhere or you cannot go somewhere, and be in this small hometown if you click on one of the Snapchat Live little avatars and you can see a very relatable every day view of a place." (@kickthegrind)

"I try to watch it every day, because it's one of the few ways that really transports me somewhere, you know, I really feel like I am there. For example I watched the one from Lebanon a few days ago, there was one in Portugal and Oslo I think recently, and it really makes me want to go and visit these places." (@thecrowdedplnt)

Since the live broadcasts of these destinations appeared on Snapchat, as it can be seen from the respondents' answers, the overall feedback is positive for many reasons, mainly because the targeted locations involve "smaller areas of destination" (@pen-ny764, 2016). The attention and awareness brought to these destinations has shown different sides of the story about how we perceive tourism destinations, where most of the times it is not the same picture we see on a post card. According to @penny764, @baurjoe, @kickthegrind and @thecrowdedplnt, SL succeeds to transports the viewers into the broadcasted destination, where to some extent, they can feel that they are actually there. The mundane is a very common aspect shared on SL, where the intention is to show how different people live across the globe. Destinations are presented both by travelers and locals, which makes the content more reliable because people share different views; therefore the uniqueness of the overall picture compiles it.

"It's also nice to see something from tourists, who's seeing it for the first time, and seeing something from the people who live there, who perhaps knows it more intimately and have different memories than tourists would. It's also nice to see the differences between what tourists would show and what locals show." (@penny764)

The central image of a destination on SL is represented by the travelers and the locals' perspective. The travelers are the ones who are showing the extraordinary in a destination. Their perception of the new can be perceived as a walk on the street or the local architecture, things which for the locals may seem normal. Their excitement to share the destination from every angle is favorable for the locals because they are already accustomed with the destination surroundings. In the case of the locals, their representation of the destination will cover most of the times places known only by them due to their personal attachment with that particular place or local traditions which are uncommon for the public. Both sides are valuable sources of inspiration during a SL broadcast and important for a true representation of a destination.

"I think it's great and it's very useful. It's overtaking the purpose of TV. When I am traveling, I always check the live events to stay updated on sports (because I do not have sports center abroad)." (@thehungrypartier)

"I think the Snapchat discovery section is pretty awesome and wish that it was featured in more cities and for more events. It's a great way to see what popular events are taking around the world and to learn about them as well as things going on in the city you are in if they have the option (like Chicago or New York)." (@cailinoneil)

From a different point of view, SL is also fulfilling to some extent the purpose of a TV and informational channel. @thehungrypartier and @cailinoneil mention that they use SL to keep in touch with what is happening around the world in regards to different events. For them, SL represents a learning tool, mainly because during a live broadcast, there are shared facts, thematic such as aspects of culture, cuisine, the mundane or traditions,

all are part of a teaching process. These aspects are meant to inform the viewer about the unknown or to get the pulse of different situations that might be of interest on a particular period of time (conf. section 2.3.2).

"...using Snapchat or social media in general to show a different side of some destinations in what people see in the news media ... Istanbul is a place for example that a lot of people are saying "Oh, don't go there now!", because of the unfortunate things that have happened. But it will be great if they made Istanbul your Passport (SL) of the day and then let people see what just regular Turks are doing ... I like the idea of going into cities and countries where people might have some misconceptions of ..." (@baurjoe)

@baurjoe reflects on the beneficial outcomes that SL has or can have over a destination. Political issues are a strongly debated over the tourism industry, and many destinations are considerably affected by what is happening around the world. In that regard, SL serves as an unbiased tool inside of the destination to showcase, at some extent, the true nature of events (Fynbo, 2016). Arguably, SL can show a different side of a destination, but that doesn't mean that it has to be always positive. As mentioned in section 2.3.1, the content from SL is curated by representatives of Snapchat; therefore there can be said that somehow the live stories can be planned. In an example presented in section 2.3.2, the case of SL Tel Aviv was the motive of various controversies when the live story appeared on Snapchat. The dispute was over the wrong image that SL Tel Aviv was showing those days, which were pictures and videos snaps with Tel Aviv people enjoying their drinks at a terrace or lying next to a pool. The people arguing this kind of image were commenting that the political situation at that point was very tense, and that SL Tel Aviv was deceiving the public with what is actually happening in the country. Therefore, SL can do so much when it comes to showing the true image of a destination mainly because it will always depend on the selection process of the content.

4.1.5 Image value and co-creation on a destiantion

Nowadays the image of a destination is very much influenced by the shared content on online platforms. Snapchat has become a very important influencer on this matter and users of the app are encouraged to share their experience through this channel. The image value of a destination is measured through the engagement of the users, by sharing and creating content on Snapchat, where they show the destination from their perspective. Prior to subchapter 2.3, the co-creation process on Snapchat is an interactive and interactional process, where users joggle with the content in order to create a narrative story regarding a destination.

"My snapchat stories consist of all of my experiences in a destination from learning about new cultures and their important ceremonies like learning about the warrior dancers in Rwanda to trying new and popular foods in a destination like New Orleans and sharing the Hogmanay festival celebrations in Scotland." (@cailinoneil)

"I like to share my interaction with the local people, with the natives and the language, and especially if I am somewhere where is defiantly picturesque or idyllic, I like to share these kind of experiences." (@worldwidenate)

"My site is about food and family travel and so you will see lots of local food that we eat. We show our audience the best things to do in each town and there will always be food." (@dishourtown)

@cailinoneil, @worldwidenate and @dishourtown reflect the various topics of how Snapchat travelers are creating their content. The Snapchat users can be identified as value co-creators due to their strategies to share the destination content. By illustrating different sides of a destination, the users of Snapchat create new knowledge, aspect that establishes the mobile app once again as a learning tool. Browsing on Snapchat and SL, one can learn different facts about the broadcasted destinations, but also brings

them closer to wanting to visit these places. Interacting with the locals adds value to the content and to the destination image, firstly because the information provided comes from a trusted source and second, the interaction feels more personal and close. This kind of approach on adding value on a destination ensures the credibility and authenticity of the information.

According to the above statements, engaging with the native community is the recommended method to learn and experience the true self of a destination. The co-creation process is strongly influenced by the interactional process (conf. subchapter 2.2), where people working together or being part of a community, can create new knowledge and add value to the content and the destination.

Part 2: Snapchat Live and the degree of a strong sense of community

n the second part of this chapter there will be analyzed different understandings that travel bloggers have on sense of community. During discourse analysis of the empirical data there were identified new meanings which travel bloggers have regarding sense of community on SL. This new meanings are a representation of their understanding regarding the degree of the sense of community on SL during 24 hours live broadcast. The following sections are going to be divided based on different themes of sense of community which appeared during the analysis of empirical data.

4.2.1 Belongingness and the sesns of community

The sense of community can be understood by many of the travel bloggers as a group of people who share the same values, beliefs or views. Based on the three levels of communities' classification (conf. subchapter 2.2), travel bloggers can be placed in the *transnationalism level*. The members of travel communities seek for a support system for their travels, where each member has an equal impact on others. The travel community itself serves to share the travel experience from a destination at a local, national and

global level. Often, the travel bloggers find themselves in a standoff due to their different take on the way a destination is perceived, but in the end this is what makes it interesting and what a community is all about: the diversity in perception. The following statements are commenting on the definition of sense of community that such a group might have:

"A community is a group of people with a common interest." (@dishourtown)

"Community is collection of people who have one similar interest and we can have different takes on that interest. For example, I have a lot of friends that are travel bloggers and we are very supportive of each other, because we all like to travel, but there is a sense of competition or standoffishness because we all have our own take or voice within that travel community." (@worldwidenate)

@worldwidenate is contemplating on the diversity of the travel community, where each member has a different view and impact in the community. This aspect makes the group to be more connected, creating a support system among the travel community. @dishourtown and @worldwidenate also reveal the need to belong to a group where the travel bloggers can share their diverse views on travelling. According to Maslow's Pyramid of needs (conf. subchapter 2.2), the level of *belongingness and love* is the border between our basic needs and social acceptance in order for us to survive in a society. McAlexander (2002) mentions that a community is built by people and the relationship between them. A shared interest connects people and makes them feel accepted among its fellow group members.

"I think that is one of the basic human needs and everyone needs to be part of something, ... a sense to be included in a group and being good at what you do it's really an important thing to feel included. It's one of the most primal needs for us to feel accepted in a group of people; it's very much acceptance." (@kickthegrind)

"I will say that being part of a community it gives one the feeling that they belong to a group who have the same views as them." (@thebrokebackpacker)

Belonging and acceptance are two concepts that link people to a community. To be accepted is one of our deepest desires after the basic needs for survival. The sense of inclusion in a community, as referred by Rovai (2002), is very much related to the process of decision-making and the discussion involvement of the community members. Therefore, acceptance is the community's response to the loyalty that one member shows. @kickthegrind and @thebrokebackpacker reflect upon these processes, where belonging is seen as our primal need for acceptance in a community. @kickthegrind comments on the engagement of the members in a community, where "being good at what you do" represents the key to be accepted in a group. McMillan (1986) refers to this as a state of faith that one has, when he/she is attracted to the beliefs of a group. As a result, the sense of community is a state of belonging, where the travel bloggers feel part of something universal and intangible.

"...Something that's not necessarily found somewhere else. But also, it could be like the feeling that there's something universal or something that brings together the people who live there." (@penny764)

"All of my followers are following my daily travels, so I have created a community within us." (@thehungrypartier)

The sense of community, or belonging, is an ephemeral concept in essence where people are getting together in order to fulfill their need of family or friends. In that sense, travel bloggers look for acceptance among the travel community and fellow travel bloggers. @penny764 contemplates on the ephemeral perception of sense of community on a destination where people are getting engaged by *"something that brings together the people"* to fulfill their need of belongingness. On another hand, @thehungrypartier is creating his own community, where he is in a constant connection with his

followers. To some extent, @thehungrypartier is a travel community and the followers are members who have the same views of travelling as the creator of this community. Therefore, the sense of community is the extension of a group or a person's need of being accepted in a particular community.

4.2.2 Romanticizing over a Snapchat Live destiantion

Through the ephemeral approach of SL to present destinations, travel bloggers acknowledged that the mobile app it's more than just a medium to promote or document a destination. Presenting the true nature of a destination, SL bonds the users at a personal level and invites them into a real-time experience into the destination. Through the interviews, the travel bloggers characterizes SL as *"personal"*, *"raw"* or *"unfiltered"*. Such aspects are inviting for them to watch SL because it stimulates them to visit that particular destination which is broadcasted on SL.

"Being able to click on Snapchat Live I think it's very refreshing ... its inspiring people to travel ..." (@kickthegrind)

"It's also nice to see something from tourists, who's seeing it for the first time, and seeing something from the people who live there, who perhaps knows it more intimately and have different memories than tourists would." (@penny764)

@kickthegrind and @penny764 are acknowledging the potential of SL to "inspire people to travel". Over the feature of SL travel bloggers can get the idea of their next trip. Using the experience of the others, they can have a sense of what to expect at that particular destination. SL is the representation of the destination from the travelers and local perspective, where they will present the destination differently. The representations from the perspective of the traveler will, most of the time, focus on building momentum and showing the extraordinary from that destination. On the other side, the locals will always present the nostalgia of time and place, romanticizing the idea of a moment in time. SL is trying to unite both sides in a narrative story so the viewer can live, to a

certain degree, the momentum and nostalgia of a destination. One of the respondents refreshes his memory by watching one of the SL stories, where the destination of the day was a destination he previously visited:

"... they sometimes do this Passport (SL), where it will be a random city around the world one day, and she (respondent's wife) just come from work and we were like "Did you see the Passport today was Panama City?!", and we were in Panama city just about a year ago traveling. And so it's cool to flip quick trough everybody's snaps of Panama City and be like "Oh yeah, I remember that!"... "(@baurjoe)

Through the feature of SL, viewers can romanticize over previous destinations where they have been, remembering past places and moments. @baurjoe is reflecting on the SL destination that he and his wife visited in the past. Watching the Panama City on SL was a moment to remember the destination and what they experienced there, transporting them into a time and space moment. SL can transport the viewers across the globe to unknown or known places for that matter. Besides, for @baurjoe and his wife, this can be a moment to recap the experience of the visit in Panama City, and contemplate on how the destination changed since their visit. Moreover, they can see the destination from another perspective different than theirs. Viewers of SL can experience nostalgia over a destination even though they have never been there. The next respondent proves to have strong feelings about an event that happened in London, due to her enjoyment of theme of the event:

"Yesterday I was watching the London Marathon Live, and I am also a runner and I am recovering from an injury ... I had tears, I was literally crying with emotion, and you know why, because you can watch an amazing YouTube video, but you know it's been edited ... and having a story like that (she is referring to London Marathon Live) is something else, at least with me it really makes me have feelings that I don't have with other social media." (@thecrowdedpInt)

Even though @thecrowdedplnt is reflecting on her feelings regarding the London Marathon event, there can't be unnoticed her attachment for SL. Being injured and watching the event on SL, @thecrowdedplnt feels emotional about the unique way of how real is portrayed the London Marathon event. She reflects also on other SM platforms that are not giving her the same emotion as SL, due to their altered image. From her point of view, SL is the only SM tool that can make her have feelings towards an online content. According to the above, the narrative of SL illustrates more than just the mundane in a destination or event, but is also reflecting on the emotion that the SL members are sharing. As mentioned in previous sections (chapter 2), people are attracted to people or communities who are sharing their beliefs and worldviews, and on SL people they can select the representations that resonate with their feelings. Another respondent reflects upon the learning process that SL is giving through the live broadcast of a destination:

"It's a great way to see what popular events are taking around the world and to learn about them as well as things going on in the city you are in if they have the option (like Chicago or New York)." (@cailinoneil)

@cailinoneil mentions that watching SL is a great way to get in touch with what is happening around the world, as well as learning about the broadcasted destinations and events. Looking from a social constructivist perspective, SL is an appropriate environment where people are constructing their own image of a destination or event. Through the process of creating the narrative live story, the creators, which are the travel bloggers, are sharing their own personal emotions an understanding over that place, where the viewers are taught about the unseen side of the world.

4.2.3 The degree of a strong sense of community through Snapchat Live

For many respondents, a strong sense of community is relative and can't be quantified, but it does have different factors that are influencing the degree of sense of community. Most of the travel bloggers consider that 24 hours is a fair period of time to build a certain degree of community, where a different part of them will like this period of time to be extended to at least 48 hours.

"24hours is definitely more than enough time to build a strong sense of community around a particular event. Any longer than that and the event is old news and people are already moved on to the next thing." (@cailinoneil)

"I think 24 hours is good, because if people are already on Snapchat then they will see it straight away, that they can be part of their town story ... in terms of building the buzz in a community, I think 24 hours are enough. A weekend would be nice actually, but any shorter than 24 hours wouldn't work." (@thehostelgirl)

According to @cailinoneil and @thehostelgirl, 24 hours are enough for a degree of sense of community to be built. @thehostelgirl mentions that this period of time is reasonable to create a *buzz* in the community, but a weekend period will be more effective in regards to bringing the people together. @cailinoneil argues and highlights that this period of time *is more than enough* for the viewers of SL to get engaged in the sense of community and anything longer than that will prove to be old and faded. SL is all about new and on the moment content, and viewers appreciate the originality of the live stories. The following respondent explains the theory behind the 24 hours SL:

"That's the dynamic or uniqueness of Snapchat, that you only have 24 hours to watch it. Is almost like the game of life, where you wake up and have another day to give it your best shot, so you can't worry about tomorrow. So that's kind of the theory of Snapchat,

you have today to tell a great Snapchat story and then you have another opportunity tomorrow to tell a great Snapchat story." (@worldwidenate)

@worldwidenate is explaining how the 24 hours SL stories are a representation of how life should be lived. The theory behind the SL is that we need to focus on the present and live the moment rather than worrying about tomorrow. Making the best out of the present moment, we can strive for more and better. To some extent, the degree of sense of community is the representation of our engagement towards living and enjoying the moment. Building momentum it allows us to look for the unique in an experience, where you live enough to share the story.

"What I think it does is that it keeps the platform (SL) fresh ... having a new country pop-up, will get more interaction instead of having the same one up there ... so I don't think in general having a 24 hours content is the best way, but on the platform Snapchat it does, so its transitory that things come and go real quickly. That sense, that impression, that feeling to go there and having new content that defiantly drives more clicks." (@kickthegrind)

"Well 24 hours works because that's what Snapchat is like ..." (@thecrowdedplnt)

@kickthegrind and @thecrowdedplnt state the obvious of SL 24 hour's stories, where they agree that the settings of the app are unique and because of that people are watching SL stories. @kickthegrind comments on the fact that SL is fresh and by showing everyday a new destination, this creates interaction among the SL members. The transitory process, as he is referring, represents the emotion regarding the instant. In other words, chasing the moment and the ephemeral in a destination unites people in a community to show off their city.

"I think it depends on the size of the community and the destination together. I do think the amount of time given should be proportional to whatever they're covering, but for

smaller places, like Caribbean islands for example, 24hrs is enough given that there may be limited things to show and do." (@penny764)

@penny764 comments on the community and destination size, which affects the degree of sense of community. If the destination is a big city with lots of activities, the length of sense of community can reach high number of SL users to contribute to a live story, but then again the time should be extended to more than 24 hours in order to truly grasp the momentum. Moreover, there is a small destination, for example Caribbean islands, in which building a sense of community may have the same impact as on a big city, but at smaller scale, where 24 hours are enough to create a SL story. Therefore, the destination size influences very much the degree of sense of community and the community itself.

"I think 24 hours just one time is not enough; I think any other campaign that can go longer is more effective. You might see something once and is, you know, out of sight out of mind. Over and over again, looking constantly at the Los Angeles story, I think that's where things are getting more and more effective." (@krista_simmons)

"For example, I can tell you what I would like, because I know that there are stories that I have missed, it would be nice if there were a place where you could find them and watch them, even though they have disappeared from your phone." (@thecrowdedpInt)

Not all respondents are considering the 24 hours as enough to build a sense of community. According to @krista_simmons, a group needs more time and repetition in order to make a sense of what is happening. Having a destination often present on SL it creates a longer narrative where viewers and users of SL get the time to identify with the content, thus the chance of building a strong sense of community will be more luckily to happen. @thecrowdedplnt comes with a solution where the SL stories could be saved somewhere on platform. This alternative can definitely improve the degree of sense of community, because locals and tourists can get the chance to romanticize over the shared

content and also to follow the travel tips that fellow users shared on the SL story. Similar to the mentioned solution, the SL representatives can share a schedule of the broadcasted destinations just to prepare the destination community as well as the tourists beforehand. This will most definitely enhance the community aspect and also the popularity of the destination on SL.

4.2.4 Travel Bloggers contribution to a destination

When it comes to present a destination, travel bloggers are the right people to show both popular and less known places from a destination. Often they are guides, consultants or ambassadors of these destinations (@worldwidenate, 2016). They represent small communities that are following them across their travels. But their impact on a destination is greater than that. Travel bloggers are constructing communities all over the world, enhancing the sense of community of their followers by engaging with them through Snapchat.

"I like to highlight the things that make a destination popular ... Hopefully this will open peoples eyes more to a destination and want to visit a place for longer and get to know it more in depth." (@cailinoneil)

"I'm a New Yorker, and many of my readers/viewers are either from NY or from other destinations in the USA. I bring the destination, big or small, my community, who may or may not have heard of the destinations I visit." (@dishourtown)

"Given that I'm quite normal, in the sense of what I would do, the money I would spend, and the places I would go, I would imagine I can give off the real vibe of what there is to do and what it's like wherever I am, because many people would travel similarly to me." (@penny764)

@cailinoneil, @dishourtown and @penny764 are showing off their personalized style of travelling with recommendations over the destinations. @dishourtown comments on

the fact that she brings the destination to her community, which is a fair trade when visiting a place. The form of this exchange is contemplating on the relationship that the travel blogger has with the visited destination. Furthermore, the travel interaction is a two ways form and @dishourtown acknowledges the importance of the community and the destination.

"I give people an honest review from my experiences, which I document on my blog and social media. I always want to share what I liked, and didn't like, and then let people use that to plan their own trips and make their own adventures." (@thehungrypartier)

"As I mentioned before, I like to show the destination in the most natural and raw context I can presented, and I think that is my contribution that I try to present to true image of that place." (@thebrokebackpacker)

"I bring a perspective, because I have a specific focus, usually on culinary travel ..." (@krista_simmons)

As mentioned before, travel bloggers are, before anything, are the representatives of the world. The travel community trusts their recommendations and for that matter they are one big segment that contributes to a destination more than other channel of promoting a destination. The length of their experience can be observed in every post they share on SM and moreover to Snpachat, which helps them to pin the destination in real time so their followers can feel connected with the visited place. To show gratitude in return for the gathered knowledge from these destinations, the travel bloggers are writing articles or blog posts where they contemplate on the previous experience. One respondent is reflecting on the impact that the destination had on him:

"I have a book coming out about my year living in Costa Rica and traveling around in Central America. I don't expect to make much money from it, but I do know that a certain percentage of the selling's will go to this charity I found in EL Salvador ... this is my way

of saying "You gave me, your country gave me some of this stories, so I want to repay that." (@baurjoe)

@baurjoe is talking about the book that he wrote about his time in Costa Rica and Central America. The reason for this book is to show appreciation for the time lived in these places, quantifying the impact that the destinations had on him. Therefore, the sense of community can be shown also through gestures of respect and affection towards a destination by acknowledging the importance in their life.

4.3 Discussion of findings

In the following subchapter there will be discussed the results of the discourse analysis based on two factors which discuss the overall findings from part 1 and part 2. The first factor will touch upon the conditions which are influencing the degree of strong sense of community on SL, where in the second factor there will be discussed the outcomes of the degree of sense of community in the process of image co-creation on a destination.

4.3.1 The degree of sense of community on Snapchat Live factor

When discussing the term of sense of community one will think that it represents the need of belongingness to a group. As recognized by McMillan (1986), the sense represents the spirit of belonging and trust to a shared structure from where the members positively benefit. Although this may be true, identifying a strong sense of community it proves to be difficult due to external factors which are influencing the process of building the strong degree of the sense. As mentioned before (see section 2.3.1), the SL feature is ephemeral in essence and available only for 24 hours, where after the shared content it disappears. Building a strong sense in these conditions proves to be challenging. In that regards, travel bloggers address the issues which are influencing the degree of a strong sense of community, as it follows:

o *No real interaction:* findings of the research have shown that SL is beneficial for bringing awareness on a destination and that users of the app enjoy watching the narrative live story. However, there is no record of what is shared and the viewer can't get in touch with what he or she is watching. Based on the interactionist theory (Peters et al., 2013), social interactions are bound to perceive, evaluate, augment or alter the content in various ways. Therefore, the viewers of the narrative SL stories can't interact or engage with the shared content more than just watching it, thus lowering the formation of a strong sense of community.

o *No available SL stories*: Niesbet (1970) in his studies relates that for the community factor to exist and grow stronger, the members need to create a relationship at a deeper level, where personal intimacy, moral commitment or continuity in time are factors which connects the members of a community (Cohen & Kennedy, 2007). The ephemeral content of SL allows very little for the viewers to connect with the destination and a strong sense of community can't be achieved. The continuity in time of the narrative stories don't exist and the viewer remains with just faded memories of the SL story which in time it disappears. Hence, the strong sense of the community can last only as much as the SL is available, which is for 24 hours, after this period of time the sense disappears and it may not be remembered.

o *The planned ephemeral content*: during the literature review there has been found that the shared content on SL by the users of this feature is first curated by representatives of Snapchat and later added in the public narrative of SL. Munar (2013) and Pan (2006) agree that the beauty of SM in tourism is that the locals and tourists are the creators of the shared content on the online and that is one of the reasons of the success of SM in tourism. Consequently, the narrative story of SL on a destination is purposively planned, although this aspect is understandable. If SL will be open for the users to share no matter what content, there would be a high chance that some content would be inappropriate. Therefore the planned content has a valid explication, but it still affects the degree of a strong sense of community to the extent that some users may feel

wronged because their snap was not posted.

Hence, the degrees of a strong sense of community on SL it very much depends on the settings of the feature. Even though improving these issues may seem as a natural decision, there is yet unknown if the sense will change in degree, considering the ephemeral context of Snapchat.

4.3.2 Image co-creation on a destination factor

Co-creation as mentioned before (see section 2.2.1), is a collective process in which the members of an online platform are engaged in sharing, commenting or like the content posted in this kind of environment. In the aforementioned section, one of the issues which are affecting the construction of a strong sense of community is the curated process of the ephemeral content on SL. During the data review, @krista simmons and @thecrowdedplnt comment that process of choosing the content for the SL stories is improper and not everybody gets to public their snap on the platform. Base on their observation, the users may feel wronged and the engagement in a SL story can diminish in time, making the users of Snapchat to disappear in time!? Even though the selection process of the content it may seem unclear, SL still accomplishes to create momentum and a different image of a destination. One of the reasons why the platform of SL is so successful is because the presentation of the destination is shown as unfiltered, raw, natural and in real-time for the SL viewers (Dua, 2014). In that regards the analysis and the review of the interviews provided with evidence to sustain the literature review. Sustained by the interviewed travel bloggers, the co-created image is portrayed from their perspective and understanding. Therefore during a narrative SL live broadcast there can be identified different travelling styles which show the destination from numerous angles. The co-created image is the result of a new knowledge regarding the destination and the viewer is transported in time and space to the broadcasted location. Hence, SL is fulfilling its task in regards of co-creating new knowledge about destinations, even though the understanding on the subject can be still be further researched.

4.3.3 Evaluation of the research trustworthiness

According to the social constructivists, the criteria of credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability are recommended in order to ensure the reliability of the paper (Bryman, 2008). Therefore the following section will focus to show the trustworthiness of this research based on the criteria, as it follows:

CREDIBILITY

When working with a constructivistic approach, there is crucial to guarantee the credibility of the research (Bryman, 2008). In order to do so, the researcher has the obligation to ensure that the interpretation of the data was accurately done and that during the interviews there were no misunderstandings in the process (Bryman, 2012). This was achieved by firstly sending an email to the interviewees with an overall presentation of the topic in order for them to understand the reason why they are contacted. Secondly, during the interview thy were asked specific question which were part of the optimal interview guide (see section 3.2.1.), in order to avoid the change of the topic. Furthermore, the researcher has the obligation to conduct the research based on the rules of good practice (Bryman, 2008; Bryman, 2012). For that reason all the interviewees were informed from the beginning of the purpose of this research and how the data will be used. In return the majority of the interviewees asked to be referred in the research by their Snapnames for professional reasons. Therefore, all the interviewees are referred by their Snapname is to provide credibility over their Snapchat profiles.

TRANSFERABILITY

The notion of transferability refers to the information which can be transferred in other studies (Guba, 1991). Therefore, there should be acknowledged potential limitations of this research regarding the context based of the paper, supporting the perspective of the social constructivist mindset (Lincoln & Guba, 2013). Furthermore, the purpose of this paper was to explore the degree of sense of community on SL and not to measure or quantify the collected data (Lincoln & Guba, 2013). For that matter, the aim was to

explore the degree of a strong sense of community on SL from the perspective of the travel bloggers on a period of 24 hours live broadcast. The mobile app Snapchat is based on ephemeral content and thus the transferability can come across challenges in transferring the information to other studies. However, following the aforementioned interviewees by their Snapname can offer a start into a new study.

DEPENDABILITY

The process of dependability suggests that the researcher needs to ensure access to all the information and details about this research (Lincoln & Guba, 2013). Therefore, all the necessary materials used to conduct this research can be found in the Appendix section at the end of this paper. The mentioned materials are in forms of recordings on the DVD and hard copies of all emails interviews.

CONFIRMABILITY

Confirmability ensures that the researcher acted in good faith and was objective through the process of writing the research (Bryman, 2008). Bryman (2008) argues and mentions that the researcher can try to be objective, but will not be able to fully achieve this. During the process writing of the research, I acted in good faith and strived to be objective. However, being a social constructivist directly implies that the researcher is implicated in the process of creating new knowledge. Therefore, being complete objective it can't be achieved.

Conclusion

Throughout this research there was investigated the degree of sense of community on SL during a 24 hours live broadcast of a destination. From the very beginning, the reason for this topic was based on the curiosity of the researcher to understand if SL can create any type of community through their ephemeral content. Moreover, the aspect of creating a narrative story of the live destination only for 24 hours has emphasized the interest on this subject. Therefore, in order to have a deeper understanding of the choose topic, there was identified a theoretical framework which led the path to analyzing the gathered data. The subject of social media was the first investigated, which led to the understandings of the online in the tourism industry, more specifically to understand if social media has an impact on how destinations are perceived. With the new knowledge from social media it was continued into the subject of sense of community, which is one of the important subjects of this paper. Social media in essence is a community with smaller communities formed by people with shared interests. Through their time in a community, the members share, comment, create or develop new content. The sense of community was a natural instinct to investigate in order to get an understanding of why people choose to be part of these online communities and moreover to share their travel experience on SL when they knew that they have only 24 hours for the content to be online.

Sense of community has proven to be relative in essence and is very much affected by the environment from where it begins as well as the community itself. The interviewed travel bloggers identify the sense with the need to belong in a group or the nostalgia regarding a destination. The majority of the travel bloggers are a community itself, where the members are followers of their travel posts. They create a connection with the members by showing them their travel style and personality, leaving the followers to grade their sense of community as they consider fit. In other words, the content can be

considerate the sense in this case with which the members of the community relate. Therefore, the concept of sense of community is just a mere representation of the members' beliefs and value system.

Exploring SL has demonstrated to be an interesting and tough subject to be explored; mainly because the mobile app is changing quite often and that there is a lack in literature concerning this subject. Although the circumstances have proven to be challenging, the research on SL revealed that the feature has a significant influence on the way destinations are perceived as well as presenting different styles of travelling. Both the literature review and travel bloggers referred to the mobile app as one of the trusted online platforms from where travel communities can receive and send a real image of destinations. For that matter, SL is becoming an important link between destination, travelers and locals, where together form a community where the aim is to bring awareness on destinations around the world.

The degree of sense of community on SL during a period of 24 hours live broadcast of a destination it equally concerns the engagement of the SL users and the app itself in creating the sense. In order to build a strong sense of community on SL there has been acknowledged that the Snapchat feature needs to create a structure regarding the broadcasted destinations. The users of SL don't know how to react or engage on something that it is not announced. Moreover, the narrative content is nowhere to be reached and the continuity of the sense can't be achieved by the users who missed the 24 hours. The interviews reflected on these issues and they all declared that their engagement will be higher and a sense of community will be more present, if live stories can be public outside of the mobile app.

Bibliography

@thebrokebackpacker. (2016, May 5). Snapchat Interview. (A.-M. Balescu, Interviewer)

@kickthegrind. (2016, April 30). Snapchat Interview. (A.-M. Balescu, Interviewer)

@penny764. (2016). Snapchat Interview. (A.-M. Balescu, Interviewer)

@worldwidenate. (2016). Snapchat Interview. (A.-M. Balescu, Interviewer)

Agarwal, N., Lei Tang, H. L., & Yu, P. S. (2008, February 11-12). Identifying the Influential Bloggers in a Community. Unknown . Unknown.

Akehurst, G. (2008). User generated content: the use of blogs for tourism organisations and tourism consumers. Unknown , 51-61.

Allen, E. (2013, January 4). Update on the Twitter Archive at the Library of Congress. Retrieved April 30, 2016, from Library of Congress Blog: http://blogs.loc.gov /loc/2013/01/update-on-the-twitter-archive-at-the-library-of-congress/

Anderson, K. E. (2015). Getting acquainted with social networks and apps: Snapchat and the rise of ephemeral communication. LIBRARY HI TECH NEWS, 10, 6-10.

Anderson, K. M. (2016, April 4). Something Big Is Happening With Snapchat: Why Businesses Shouldn't Wait to Get Started. Retrieved April 10, 2016, from HubSpot: http://blog.hubspot.com/marketing/snapchat-business-update#sm.0001b5cpqcancdtot9b1f0hl4ayxa

Anonymous. (1998, August). What Will Be: How the New World of Information Will Change Our Lives. Kentucky Banker Magazine , 859, p. 32.

Aref, F. (2011). Sense of Community and Participation for Tourism Development. Life Science Journal, 8 (1), 20-25.

Azariah, R. D. (2012). Beyond the blog: The networked self of travel bloggers on Twitter. Journal of Media and Communication , 4 (1), 63-78.

Banyai, M., & Glover, T. D. (2012). Evaluating Research Methods on Travel Blogs. Journal of Travel Research , 51 (3), 267–277.

Banyai, M., & Havitz, M. E. (2013). Analyzing Travel Blogs Using a Realist. Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management , 22, 229–241.

Bayer et al., J. (2016). Sharing the Small Moments: Ephemeral Social Interaction on Snapchat. INFORMATION, COMMUNICATION & SOCIETY, 7, 956–977.

Beck, K. (2016, April 14). Snapchat is now the most popular social network among teens, according to new study. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from Mashable: http://mashable.com/2016/04/14/snapchat-teens-winner/#710u.J6pwSq3

Betters, E. (2015, December 26). What's the point of Snapchat and how does it work? Retrieved March 20, 2016, from Pochet-lint: http://www.pock-et-lint.com/news/131313-what-s-the-point-of-snapchat-and-how-does-it-work

Bevir, M. (2010). Social Constructivism. In M. Bevir, Encyclopedia of Political Theory. Thousand Oaks: AGE Publications, Inc.

Blichfeldt, B. S., & Marabese, M. (2014). A life posted: 'netnographic' approaches to tourists studies. In J. W. Meged, B. S. Blichfeldt, A. A. Hansen, & K. A. Hvass, Tourism Methodologies (pp. 61-76). Copenhagen Business School Press.

Bosangit, C., McCabe, S., & Hibbert, S. (2009). What is told in travel blogs? Exploring travel blogs for consumer narrative analysis. Information and Communication technologies in tourism, 61-71.

Bowen, D., & Clarke, J. (2009). Contemporary tourist Behaviour. CAB International.

Braun, C. (2015, August 7). Snapchat takes Tel Aviv, sparks anti-Israel outrage. Retrieved April 28, 2016, from The Jerusalem Post: http://www.jpost.com/Not-Just-News/Snap-chat-takes-Tel-Aviv-sparks-anti-Israel-outrage-408351

Bryman, A. (2008). Social Research Methods (3rd ed.). Oxford : Oxford University Press .

Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.

Buhalis, D., & Foerste, M. (2015). SoCoMo marketing for travel and tourism: Empowering. Journal of Destination Marketing & Management , 4, 151–161.

Carson, D., & Schmallegger, D. (2007). Blogs in tourism: Changing approaches to. Journal of Vacation Marketing , 14 (2), 99–110.

Choi, S., Lehto, X. Y., & Morrison, A. (2007). Destination image representation on the web: Content analysis of Macau travel related websites. Tourism Management , 28 (1), 118-129.

Cohen, R., & Kennedy, P. (2007). Global Sociology (2 ed.). New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Collin, F. (2013). Social Constructivism. In B. Kaldis, Encyclopedia of Philosophy and the Social Sciences (pp. 895-897). Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Davis, R. (2001). A cognitive-behavioral model of pathological Internet use. Computers in Human Behavior , 17 (2), 187-195.

Dodson, P. C. (2015, Octobre 21). Why Snapchat's Live Stories Are The Most Powerful New Social Media. Retrieved March 24, 2016, from Fast Company: http://www.fastcompany.com/3052322/why-snapchats-live-sto-ries-are-the-most-powerful-new-social-media

Dredge, S. (2015, June 17). What is Snapchat? CEO Evan Spiegel explains it all for parents. Retrieved April 7, 2016, from The Guardian: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2015/jun/17/what-is-snapchat-evan-spiegel-parents

Drescher, E. (2015, July 13). Snapchat Gets Political: The Hot Controversy Of "Live Feed". Retrieved March 30, 2016, from The Odyssey Online: https://www.theodysseyon-line.com/snapchat-political-hot-controversy-live-feed

Dua, T. (2014, November 26). Now showing on Snapchat: A travel show. Retrieved April 30, 2016, from DIGIDAY: http://digiday.com/brands/now-showing-snapchat-travel-show/

Duke, J. (2010). Twitter archive donated to LC. Advanced Technology Libraries , 39 (5), 10.

Edvardsson, B., Tronvoll, B., & Gruber, T. (2011). Expanding understanding of service exchange and value co-creation: a social construction approach. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 39, 327-339.

Egholm, L. (2014). Philosophy of science: perspectives on organisations and society. Hans Reitzels Forlag.

Ek, R. (2013). Tourism social media as a fire object. Tourism Social Science Series , 18, 19-34.

Evan. (2012, May 9). Let's chat. Retrieved April 28, 2016, from Snapchat Blog: http://snapchat-blog.com/post/22756675666/lets-chat

Fincher, D. (Director). (2010). The social network [Motion Picture].

Flynn, N. (2006). Blog Rules. AMACOM.

Fontein, D. (2015, August 13). Changing in a Snap: How Snapchat's Impact is Felt in Three Different Industries. Retrieved May 1, 2016, from Hootsuite: https://blog.hoot-suite.com/how-snapchats-impact-is-felt-in-three-different-industries/

Franzen, C. (2014, August 29). Snapchat lets you watch and create group videos of live events with 'Our Story'. Retrieved April 26, 2016, from The Verge: http://www.theverge.com/2014/8/29/6084221/snapchat-our-sto-ry-collective-snaps-from-live-events

Freeman, P. (2016, January 8). Snapchat for tourism – are you using it? Retrieved May 1, 2016, from Tourism Tribe: https://www.tourismtribe.com/forums/topic/snap-chat-for-tourism-are-you-using-it/

Fynbo, J. (2016, March 24). Traveling the World with Snapchat. Retrieved April 3, 2016, from Peacock Plume: http://peacockplume.fr/opinions/media/traveling-world-snap-chat

Gackenbach, J. (2011). Psychology and the Internet. Academic Press.

Gioglio, J. (Unkown). 5 Creative Ways Brands Are Using Snapchat. Retrieved April 11, 2016, from Convince&Convert: http://www.convinceandconvert.com/social-media-case-studies/5-creative-ways-brands-are-using-snapchat/

Group, T. (2015, November 9). Vancouver goes live on Snapchat today. Retrieved April 7, 2016, from Travelweek : http://www.travelweek.ca/news/vancouver-goes-live-on-snap-chat-today/

Guba, E. G. (1991). Paradigm dialog. Canadian Journal of Sociology, 16 (4), 446-448.

Guest. (2016, January 20). Snapchat: The King of Millennial Micro-Moments. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from Adweek: http://www.adweek.com/socialtimes/snap-chat-the-king-of-millennial-micro-moments/633050

Gyimóthy, S. (2013). Symbolic Convergence and Tourism Social Media. In A. M. Munar, S. Gyimóthy, & C. Liping, Tourism social media : transformations in identity, community and culture. Emerald.

Gyimóthy, S., Munar, A. M., & Larson, M. (2014). Consolidating Social Media Strategies. Consolidating Social Media Strategies , 1, 154-168.

Hall, N. (2016, February 11). Big decisions on mobile. Retrieved March 5, 2016, from Think Digital: http://thinkdigital.travel/opinion/bigdecisiononmobile/

Hanna, R., Rohm, A., & Crittenden, V. L. (2011). We're all connected: The power of the social media. Business Horizons , 54, 265-273.

Harris, R. (2009, Sept 03). Social media ecosystem mapped as a wiring diagram. Retrieved March 18, 2016, from Harris Social Media: http://harrissocialmedia.com/2009/social-media-ecosystem-mapped-as-a-wiring-diagram/

Harsha, G. (2008). Facebook Me: Collective Self-Esteem, Need to Belong, and Internet Self-Efficacy as Predictors of the Igeneration's Attitudes Toward Social Networking Sites. Journal of Interactive Advertising , 8 (2), 5-12.

Holm, A. B. (2011). Philosophy of science: An introduction for future knowledge workers. Samfundslitteratur.

Howard, T. (2009). Design to Thrive. Morgan Kaufmann.

ibid. (2008). Social media and Tourism Destinations: TripAdvisor Case Study. Advances in Tourism Research , 26-28.

Isakovic, J., & Sulcic, A. (2008, October 7-9). A Value-Added Methodology for Defining Virtual. Tampere, Finland: MindTrek.

Jansson, A. (2002). Spatial phantasmagoria: The mediatization of tourism experience. European Journal of Communication , 17 (4), 429-443.

Jenkins, H. (2006). Fans, Bloggers, and Gamers: Exploring Participatory Culture. New York and London: New York University Press.

Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. Business Horizons , 53, 59-68.

Kaplan, M. A., & Haenlein, M. (2009). The increasing importance of public marketing: Explanations, applications and limits of marketing within public administration. European Management Journal, 27, 197-212.

Khang, H., Han, E.-K., & Ki, E.-J. (2014). Exploring influential social cognitive determinants of social media use. Computers in Human Behavior, 36, 48–55.

Kimmel, A. J., & Kitchen, P. J. (2015). Word of mouth and social media. Routledge.

Kosoff, M. (2015, February 22). 2 dozen millennials explain why they're obsessed with Snapchat and how they use it. Retrieved March 10, 2016, from Business Insider: http://www.businessinsider.com/why-millennials-use-snap-chat-2015-2?r=US&IR=T&IR=T

Kozinets, R. V. (2010). Netnography : Doing Ethnographic Research Online. London : Sage.

Kozinets, R., de Valck, K., Wojnicki, A., & Wilner, S. (2010). Networked Narratives: Understanding Word-of-Mouth Marketing in Online Communities. Journal of Marketing , 74 (2), 71.

Kozinets, R., Hemetsberger, A., & Schau, H. (2008). The Wisdom of Consumer Crowds: Collective Innovation in the Age of Networked Marketing. Journal of Macromarketing , 28 (4), 339.

Kramer, B. (Unknown). Why sharing is reimagining our future. Retrieved February 20, 2016, from TED: https://www.ted.com/watch/ted-institute/ted-ibm/bryan-kramer-why-sharing-is-reimagining-our-future

Kukla, A. (2013). Philosophical Issues in Science : Social Constructivism and the Philosophy of Science (1). Routledge.

Kvale, S., & Brinkmann, S. (2015). InterViews: Learning the craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.

Lang, B. (2010, September 20). Ipsos OTX Study: People Spend More Than Half Their Day Consuming Media. Retrieved February 10, 2016, from The Wrap: http://www.the-wrap.com/people-spend-more-12-day-consuming-media-study-finds-21005/

Laroche et al., M. (2012). The effects of social media based brand communities on brand community markers, value creation practices, brand trust and brand loyalty. Computers in Human Behavior , 28 (5), 1755–1767.

Laroche, M., Habibi, M. R., & Richard, M.-O. (2013). To be or not to be in social media: How brand loyalty is affected by social media? International Journal of Information Management , 33, 76-82.

Leung et al., D. (2013). Social Media in Tourism and Hospitality: A. Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing , 30 (1-2), 3-22. Levy, A. (2016, April 18). Snapchat Is More Popular With Teens Than Any Other Social

Network. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from Fool: http://www.fool.com/investing/general/2016/04/18/snapchat-is-more-popular-with-teens-than-any-other.aspx

Lewis, J. (2012). Web 2.0. In H. K. Juergensmeyer, Encyclopedia of Global Studies. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2013). Constructivist Credo. Walnut Creek : Left Coast Press.

Ling, R., & Pedersen, P. E. (2005). Mobile Communications: Re-negotiation of the Social Sphere. Springer.

Luckerson, V. (2015, September 25). How Snapchat Built its Most Addictive Feature. Retrieved April 4, 2016, from Time: http://time.com/4049026/snapchat-live-stories/

Lugosi, P., Janta, H., & Watson, P. (2012). Investigative management and consumer research on the internet. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management , 24 (6), 838-854.

Maclellan-Wright, M. F., Anderson, D., Barber, S., Smith, N., Cantin, B., Felix, R., et al. (2007). The development of measures of community capacity for community-based funding programs in Canada. Health Promotion International , 47, 299-306.

Manalo, J. (2015, July 16). What Snapchat's Stories Mean to Millennials and Travel Brands. Retrieved March 14, 2016, from Skift: https://skift.com/2015/07/16/what-snap-chats-stories-mean-to-millennials-and-travel-brands/

Mangold, W. G., & Faulds, D. J. (2009). Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. Business Horizons , 357–365.

Mansfield, M. (2015, September 15). What is Snapchat and How Can I Use It for Business? Retrieved April 14, 2016, from Small Business Trends: http://smallbiz-trends.com/2015/09/what-is-snapchat-use-snapchat-for-business.html

Mcalexander, J. H., Schouten, J. W., & Koenig, H. F. (2002). Building Brand Community. Journal of Marketing , 66 (1), 38-54.

Mcculley, K. (2015, August 5). Why Snapchat matters. Retrieved March 29, 2016, from Adventurous Kate Blog: http://www.adventurouskate.com/why-snapchat-matters/

McMillan, D. W. (1996). Sense of community. Journal of Community Psychology, 24 (4), 315-325.

McMillan, D. W., & Chavis, D. M. (1986). Sense of community: A Definition and Theory. Journal of Community Psychology , 14.

Miguéns, J., Baggio, R., & Costa, C. (2008). Social media and Tourism Destinations: TripAdvisor Case Study. Advances in Tourism Research , 26-28.

Mohammad, R. H., Michel, L., & Richard, M.-O. (2014). Brand communities based in social media: How unique are they?Evidence from two exemplary brand communities. International Journal of Information Management, 123-132.

Morrow, M. (2014). Social Media: Staying Connected. Nursing Science Quarterly, 27 (4), 340.

Moscardo, G. (2008). Building Community Capacity for Tourism Development. CAB International.

Munar, A. M., & Jacobsen, S. J. (2013). Trust and Involvement in Tourism Social Media and Web-Based Travel Information Sources. Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism , 13 (1), 1-19.

Munar, A. M., Gyimóthy, S., & Cai, L. (2013). Tourism Social Media: A New Research Agenda. In A. M. Munar, S. Gyimothy, & C. Liping, Tourism social media : transformations in identity, community and culture. Emerald.

Muniz, A. M., & O'Guinn, T. C. (2001). Brand Community. Journal of Consumer Research , 27 (4), 412-432.

Murphy, S. K. (2014, July 15). Retrieved May 1, 2016, from Mashable: http://mashable.com/2014/07/15/snapchat-geo-location-filters/#FwAZy2NWNGq7

Ngai, E. W., Tao, S. S., & Moon, K. K. (2015). Social media research: Theories, constructs, and conceptual frameworks. International Journal of Information Management, 35, 33-44.

Nodes, S. (2015, June 17). Snapchat and the golden opportunity for travel marketing. Retrieved April 6, 2016, from Tnooz: https://www.tnooz.com/article/snapchat-travel-marketing/

Okazaki, S., & Taylor, C. (2013). Social media and international advertising: theoretical challenges and future directions. International Marketing Review , 30 (1), 56-71.

O'Reilly, L. (2015, November 24). If you're traveling home for the holidays, GE wants you to use this Snapchat filter. Retrieved April 19, 2016, from Business Insider UK: http://uk.businessinsider.com/ge-launches-snapchat-geofil-ter-targeting-airports-and-train-stations-2015-11?r=US&IR=T

Pan, B., & Fesenmaier, D. R. (2006). ONLINE INFORMATION SEARCH: Vacation Planning Process. Annals of Tourism Research , 33 (3), 809–832.

Pan, B., MacLaurin, T., & Crotts, J. (2007, August). Travel Blogs and the Implications for Destination Marketing. JOURNAL OF TRAVEL RESEARCH , 35-45.

Parameswaran, M., & Whinston, A. (2007). Research Issues in Social Computing. Journal of the Association for Information Systems , 8 (6), 336-350.

Patel, S. (2016, February 22). The Quick Guide to Using Snapchat for Business in 2016. Retrieved March 30, 2016, from Entrepreneur: https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/270663

Perez, S. (2014, August 11). Snapchat Is Now The #3 Social App Among Millennials. Retrieved April 15, 2016, from Techcrunch: http://techcrunch.com/2014/08/11/snap-chat-is-now-the-3-social-app-among-millennials/

Peters et al., K. (2013). Social Media Metrics — A Framework and Guidelines for Managing Social Media. Journal of Interactive Marketing , 27, 281-298.

Piwek, L., & Joinson, A. (2016). "What do they snapchat about?" Patterns of use in time-limited instant messaging service. Computers in Human Behavior, 54, 358.

Poston, B. (2009, August). An Exercise in Personal Exploration: Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs. Association of Surgical Technologists.

Prebensen, N. K., Chen, J. S., & Uysal, M. (2014). Creating experience value in tourism. CAB International.

Pühringer, S., & Taylor, A. (2008). A practitioner's report on blogs as a potential source of destination marketing intelligence. Journal of Vacation Marketing , 14 (2), 177-187.

Rheingold, H. (1999). A slice of my life in my virtual community. In P. Ludlow, High Noon on the Electronic Frontier: Conceptual Issues in Cyberspace. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Ries, B. (2015, July 9). Snapchat shows life in the West Bank 2 days after its live story from Tel Aviv. Retrieved April 29, 2016, from Mashable: http://mashable.com/2015/07/09/snapchat-west-bank-story/#OVq3aWg2NEqg

Riviere, C. (2005). Mobile camer phones: A new form of "Being together" in daily interpersonal communication. In R. L. Pedersen, Mobile communications: Re-negotiation of the Social Sphere (pp. 167-185). London: Springer.

Robertson, S. (Unknown). 5 Reasons Why Snapchat For Travel Is Great. Retrieved April 4, 2016, from This is life in trips: http://www.thislifeintrips.com/5-reasons-why-snap-chat-for-travel-is-great/

Rovai, A. (2002). Building Sense of Community at a Distance. International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 3 (1).

Scarborough, S. (2016, March 9). A snapshot of Snapchat for tourism. Retrieved April 26, 2016, from Sheila's Guide Blog: http://www.sheilasguide.com/2016/03/09/a-snap-shot-of-snapchat-for-tourism/

Scola, N. (2015, November 7). Library of Congress' Twitter archive is a huge #FAIL. Retrieved April 30, 2016, from Politico: http://www.politico.com/story/2015/07/library-of-congress-twitter-archive-119698.html

Seraj, M. (2012). We Create, We Connect, We Respect, Therefore We Are: Intellectual, Social, and Cultural Value in Online Communities. Journal of Interactive Marketing , 26 (4), 209-222.

Silverstone, R. (1989). Let us then Return to the Murmuring of Everyday Practices: A Note on Michel de Certeau, Television and Everyday Life. Theory, Culture and Society, 6 (1), 77.

Sloane, G. (2015, July 13). Here Are 9 Snapchat Images That Opened Mecca to the Rest of the World App gets inside holy city. Retrieved March 20, 2016, from Adweek: http://www.adweek.com/news/technology/here-are-9-snapchat-im-ages-opened-mecca-rest-world-165855

Snapchat. (Unknown). Creating a Story. Retrieved April 10, 2016, from Snapchat Support: https://support.snapchat.com/en-US/a/post-story

Snapchat. (2014, Jun 17). Introducing Our Story. Retrieved April 21, 2016, from Snapchat Blog: http://snapchat-blog.com/post/89064817345/introducing-our-story

Snapchat. (2016). Snapchat Support. Retrieved April 19, 2016, from Snapchat Support: https://support.snapchat.com/en-US/ca/snaps

Snapchat. (2013, Octobre 3). Surprise! Retrieved April 18, 2016, from Snapchat Blog: http://snapchat-blog.com/post/62975810329/surprise

Tardini, S., & Cantoni, L. (2005). A SEMIOTIC APPROACH TO ONLINE COMMUNITIES: BELONGING, INTEREST AND IDENTITY IN WEBSITES' AND VIDEOGAMES' COMMUNITIES. IADIS International Conference e-Society.

Taylor, S. (2013). Chapter 4. The usefulness of discourse analysis for social science researchers. In S. Taylor, What is Discourse Analysis? (pp. 53–66). Bloomsbury Collections.

Tolisano, S. R. (2015, June 5). Global Awareness via Snapchat Life Stories. Retrieved April 15, 2016, from LangWitches: http://langwitches.org/blog/2015/06/05/global-awareness-via-snapchat-life-stories/

Townley et al., G. (2011). Reconcilable Differences? Human Diversity, Cultural Relativity,. American Journal of Community Psychology, 47, 1-2.

Tse, T. S., & Zhang, Y. E. (2013). Analysis of Blogs and Microblogs: A Case Study of Chinese Bloggers Sharing Their Hong Kong Travel Experiences. Asia Pacific Journal of Tourism Research , 18 (4), 314-329.

Ungerleider, N. (2015, September 7). Snapchat Features Live Stories From West Bank. Retrieved April 22, 2016, from Fast Company: http://www.fastcompany.com/3048432/app-economy/snapchat-features-live-stories-from-west-bank

Wagner, K. (2015, June 17). Snapchat Is Making Some Pretty Serious Money From Live Stories. Retrieved April 19, 2016, from Recode: http://www.re-code.net/2015/6/17/11563634/snapchats-mak-ing-some-pretty-serious-money-from-live-stories

Wasserman, S., & Faust, K. (1994). Social network analysis: methods and applications. Press Syndicate of the University of Cambridge.

Weinberg, T. (2009). The New Community Rules : marketing on the social web. Cambridge, Mass. : Pragma.

White, C. (2013). Bloggers Boot Camp. Focal Press.

Wojdylo, J. (2015, May 25). Nairobi Life Snapchat Story on May 25th, 2015. Retrieved May 10, 2016, from Wojdylo Social Media: http://wojdylosocialmedia.com/nairobi-life-snapchat-story-may-25th-2015/

Wojdylo, J. (2015, April 4). What City Will Be the Next on "Life" Snapchat Stories? Retrieved March 29, 2016, from Wojdylo Social Media : http://wojdyloso-cialmedia.com/city-will-next-life-snapchat-stories/

Wojdylo, J. (2015, May 3). What's on Snapchat Stories Today? Retrieved March 21, 2016, from Wojdylo Social Media: http://wojdylosocialmedia.com/whats-snapchat-stories-to-day/

Wright, D. (2015, September 14). Jamaica first Caribbean country to be featured on

Snapchat. Retrieved March 22, 2016, from Jamaica Observer: http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/news/Jamaica-first-Caribbean-country-to-be-featured-on-Snapchat

Xiang, Z., & Grezel, U. (2010). Role of social media in online travel information search. Tourism Management , 31, 179-188.

Yates, D., & Paquette, S. (2011). Emergency knowledge management and social media technologies: A case study of the 2010 Haitian earthquake. International Journal of Information Management, 31, 6-13.

